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Meeting Minutes December 29, 2014SEOPW Community Redevelopment Agency

Present: Commissioner Sarnoff, Commissioner Suarez, Commissioner Carollo, Vice Chair Gort 

and Chair Hardemon

On the 29th day of December 2014, the Board of Commissioners of the Southeast Overtown/Park 

West Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Miami met in regular session at Camillus 

House, 1603 Northwest 7th Avenue, Miami, Florida.  The meeting was called to order by Chair 

Hardemon at 5:43 p.m., and was adjourned at 8:57 p.m.

Note for the Record: Commissioner Carollo entered the meeting at 7:49 p.m.

ALSO PRESENT:

Clarence E. Woods, Executive Director, CRA

William Bloom, Special Counsel, CRA

Renee A. Jadusingh, Staff Counsel, CRA 

Barnaby L. Min, Deputy General Counsel

Todd B. Hannon, Clerk of the Board

APPROVING THE MINUTES OF THE FOLLOWING MEETINGS:

Motion by Board Member Sarnoff, seconded by Board Member Suarez, to APPROVE 

PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

Motion by Board Member Sarnoff, seconded by Board Member Suarez, to APPROVE 

PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

Chair Hardemon:  At 5:44 p.m., I'm going to call this meeting to order, Southeast 

Overtown/Park West CRA (Community Redevelopment Agency), December 16 -- I'm sorry, it 

says -- it should be December 29 meeting, noting the presence of Commissioner Sarnoff; 

Commissioner Gort; Commissioner Suarez; myself, Chairman, Commissioner Hardemon.  The 

first thing we'd like to do is just approve the minutes.  Is there a motion to approve the regular 

minutes?

Board Member Sarnoff:  So move.

Board Member Suarez:  Second.

Chair Hardemon:  It's been properly moved --

Commissioner Suarez:  Second.

Chair Hardemon:  -- by Commissioner Sarnoff and seconded by Commissioner Suarez to 

approve the agenda minutes from September 30 and October 27, 2014.  Is there any unreadiness, 

any discussion?  Hearing none, all in favor, say “aye.”

The Board (Collectively):  Aye. 

Chair Hardemon:  Motion passes.

DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. CRA DISCUSSION
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14-01213

DISCUSSION ITEM REGARDING OVERTOWN MUSIC AND ARTS 

FESTIVAL.

File # 14-01213 Cover Memo.pdf

DISCUSSED

Chair Hardemon:  The first agenda item that we want to make sure that we discuss is the 

Overtown Music and Arts Festival.  These gentlemen have five minutes to address the body to 

make their presentation.  I believe there's a video presentation that should come forward, so if 

they're here, please come now.

Mussadiq Muhammad:  Good evening, Commissioners, distinguished guests.  Last year, we had 

the privilege and honor of highlighting the -- I believe the culture and the body of what 

Overtown represents.  We had over 7,500 guests to come to Overtown, enjoy music, arts, craft.  

These are some of the things that I believe that's important to a community that makes it vibrant 

and makes it live, and make people want to come and enjoy it.  So we would like to start the 

presentation so everyone can see, the Commissioners can see exactly what we did last year in 

Overtown.  

Clarence Woods (Executive Director, Southeast Overtown/Park West Community Redevelopment 

Agency):  Actually, earlier this year.

Mr. Muhammad:  This year.

Note for the Record:  At this time, a video presentation was had.

Mr. Muhammad:  Commissioners and the body of the community of Overtown, I just wanted to 

show what can be done.  The CRA (Community Redevelopment Agency) gave us a grant of, I 

believe, $75,000.  This event cost us $113,000.  What we did, Headliner Market Group and our 

crew, because we felt so sincere and passionate about showing a positive light on Overtown, we 

went in our own pocket and backed it, so I wanted to show the City what can be done if it's done 

right.  

Chair Hardemon:  Sir, can you please announce your name for the record, please?

Mr. Muhammad:  Mussadiq Muhammad.  

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  Commissioners, do you have any questions for Mr. 

Muhammad?  Seeing none, thank you very much, sir.

Commissioner Suarez:  Congratulations.

Mr. Muhammad:  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Congratulations.  Thank you.

Applause

ORDER OF THE DAY

Chair Hardemon:  Fellow Board Members, I want to thank you for actually being here today on 

December 29, knowing that it's the holiday season, to have so many representation here about 

these important issues, so what I'd like to do is I want to make sure that we get to the reason that 

most of us are here, which is item number 12, Miami Worldcenter.  I understand that we're going 

to have significant discussion about those different items, so to do that, though, we want to make 
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sure that we address the other items, as well, and so what I would like to do, Commissioners, if 

you will, what I'd like to do is open up the floor for public hearing on items 1 through 11 so that 

we can address and summarily approve all those items 1 through 11.  Once those items are 

approved, then we can open up the floor and begin our discussion on item number RE.12.  So by 

going 1 through 11, we don't have to discuss each one of them individually; we can do it 

similarly to how we handle our consent agendas in the Miami Commission.  So if there's --

Board Member Suarez:  Do you want a motion or --?

Chair Hardemon:  -- no objection, what I'll do is I'll open up the floor right now for discussion 

from the public on items RE.1 through RE.11; only items RE.1 through RE.11.  And so those 

items are what I am inviting for discussion.  Please do not discuss item RE.12.  So the public 

hearing will be for items RE.1 through RE.11.  Madam Holmes, you're recognized.

Renita Holmes:  Point of clarity, Commissioner, Chairperson.  Would this be -- normally, there 

are two minutes, I guess, per item, so if someone has multi-items or those of us who are 

registered lobbyists, would we be able to address our items accordingly?

Chair Hardemon:  If there's -- if you are a registered lobbyist and you've properly registered 

before the Clerk, then you'll be able to address the items so -- 

Ms. Holmes:  But to my understanding, even --

Chair Hardemon:  -- but I'm going to be very clear.  So if you are here and you want to speak on 

the public hearing about these items, when you come to the podium, announce which item you 

are speaking on.  You will have the time accordingly to speak on those items.  Understood?

Ms. Holmes:  Exactly.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Ms. Holmes:  Thank you very much.  Give me a moment.

Chair Hardemon:  So I'm going to open the floor right now at this point.

Ms. Holmes:  I'd like to get my paper; I'll return.

Chair Hardemon:  Well, there's actually -- for RE.1 through 11, is there anyone from the public 

that'd like to speak on those items?  Is there anyone from the public that'd like to speak on those 

items?  

(UNINTELLIGIBLE COMMENT)

Chair Hardemon:  Right.  You're recognized, sir.  Please announce your name for the record.

Irby McKnight:  Good evening.  I'm Irby McKnight.  I live in Overtown for the last 45 years.  I'm 

here on item number 9, because we need to support this business.  It is a landmark in Overtown, 

it is a mainstay in Overtown, and it does provide employment opportunities for many years for 

people in the community who would probably not pass a background check.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  You're recognized, ma'am.  May you state your name 

for the record, please?

Jackie Bell:  My name is Jackie Bell, 1600 Northwest 3rd Avenue; item number 6, I thank you 

very much.
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Agnes Morton:  Good evening, Commissioners.  My name --

Chair Hardemon:  You're recognized.

Ms. Morton:  -- is Agnes Morton, 1454 Northwest 43rd Street, and I wanted to speak on two --

Chair Hardemon:  Yes, ma'am.

Ms. Morton:  -- of them.  The first one is on item 6.  I want to support Ms. Jackie Bell and 

support her in Folklife Fridays.  You know, I think the numbers have been increasing, and I think 

there needs to be probably more money allocated for outreach and for marketing.  On item 9, 

again, the Lewis family has been an anchor in this community and they employ a lot of people, 

and I would like to see that restaurant brought up to scale in terms of a fine dinner 

establishment.  I think it's in the right location.  I think it has the right history and I patronize 

there.  And when I go there, I always see a lot of people, so I would like to see it brought up to 

scale as a fine dinner establishment and also to be rehabbed, and whatever they're asking for, I 

hope they're able to get to improve it and to keep it.  It's a large employer in this neighborhood, 

so thank you very much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Todd B. Hannon (City Clerk):  Chair, if I could get the speaker's name again?

Chair Hardemon:  Can you state your name again for the record, please.

Mr. Morton:  Okay.  Agnes, A-G-N-E-S; Morton, like salt.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, ma'am.  Yes, sir, you're recognized.

Andre Williams:  Good day to the Commissioners.  How are y'all guys doing?  My name is Andre 

Williams, CEO (Chief Executive Officer) of eyeurbantv.com, and also the founder and CEO of 

the newly-found Overtown Media Hub located at 175 Northwest 14th Street.  And I just want to 

bring your attention to item number 4.  I'm very interested in that item because as a company 

and as a community business, we've been doing a lot of marketing and reimaging in helping 

shape the brand of Overtown through visual imagery.  So I'm really concerned about that, and I 

want to see that go to, you know, people who are diligently putting in service in this community 

and making sure that this community is not only seen as a blighted violent community , but also a 

uprising, uplifting community, as well, and we'd like to initiate our Overtown for Life Project.  So 

I'm really interested in that, and I want to thank you guys for your attention.  That's good.  I said 

everything.  I need to say my name again or anything like that?

Chair Hardemon:  No, no, that's it.  Thank you very much.  Yes, ma'am, you're recognized.

Cecilia Stewart:  Good evening.  Cecilia Stewart, 1899 Northwest 1st Court, and I support item 

number 6 for the Folklife for Ms. Jackie Bell, and I would like to ask also for an increase in 

allocation of funds.  I don't think that it's enough money to support what we' re doing over there 

to draw the people, as well as to continue the excellence that's being provided with that Folklife 

Festival.  I also support item number 9, and I concur with Mr. Irby McKnight, as well as Ms. 

Agnes Morton.  That's a historic landmark, and the family is very important to us, and so we 

want to preserve the jobs that they create.  The business is a flourishing business, but they need 

more updated equipment.  They need more modernized facilities to accommodate us.  And when 

people come from out of State, they like to come to those type of places; to come to our 

community to support us.  So, please, upgrade that, provide the funds they need, and I support it 

wholeheartedly.  Thank you.
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Chair Hardemon:  Thank you.  You're recognized, sir.

Peter Ehrlich:  Good evening, Mr. Chair, Board Members.  My name is Peter Ehrlich.  My 

address is 720 Northeast 69th Street, and I'm here speaking about item number 10.  It's a 

property located at 173 Northwest 11th Street.  And before approving it as a Board, I hope you'll 

discuss it and discuss it with the public here today.  I took a look at the property.  It looks like a 

small building, 2,500 square feet with -- it looks like little or no parking, and it looks like 

somebody just bought it a couple years ago for $90,000.  And your Board is deliberating over 

spending $1.25 million that would be going into this business, and it appears that it's going into 

a property that the CRA (Community Redevelopment Agency) doesn't own.  As a businessperson, 

it seems like a massive amount of money going into a small property with little or no parking .  So 

I hope you'll discuss it with the public before you vote on that item; that's number 10.  Thank you 

very much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  Any other persons?

Grady Muhammad:  Good evening, Mr. Chairman.  Grady Muhammad, president and CEO of 

Miami-Dade First, 6025 Northwest 6th Court.  On the items, Mr. Clerk, I'm definitely going to 

need two minutes, please, sir.  Mr. Chairman, in favor of literally just about every item, even the 

Police Department and the cameras, but I wanted to give you something in reference to the 

Police Department, because what we have and what we created -- and I'm going to give it to the 

Clerk for the record to enter to it [sic].  It's called the Peacemakers.  The Peacemakers is a 

project that was funded by the CRA in 2008 as a pilot project, five months.  The -- Deputy Chief 

Gomez will tell you -- reduced calls to the Police Department by 88 percent.  There was no 

murders, there was no crime, and it hired neighborhood residents.  Why is one of the most 

successful program at $150,000, least amount of money, $150,000, most successful program 

hasn't been funded -- refunded to stop crime, to stop murders, to stop drugs in Overtown, 

nowhere else?  We have a Commissioner with this thing later on with the emergency meeting at 

the Mount Sinai Church for emergency shootings.  We have to have a master plan.  Putting the 

money with the Police Department for cameras and central CCTV is great.  But again, at the 

end, having people on the ground, having the community, neighbors, residents that's working, 

residents that are also being able to connect to other residents with the services that they need, 

then you'll be able to reduce calls to the police by 88 percent, like we did.  But more importantly, 

you created jobs for residents in Overtown; you provided crime prevention; life-saving 

opportunities in Overtown.  And if we don't be able to provide the necessary security in 

Overtown from the shopping center where they defecating and everything else, our investments 

are going to be lost.  If we don't provide security along with the police with the 1.275 million for 

the Police Department, if we don't provide that -- it's a partnership, because right now, the black 

community have no trust in the police, and those are the actual facts, period.  So we got to get 

people who love the people, who respect the community, who respect the police and work with 

the police to be able to make a change in this community.  The other items, we got to ensure with 

the Peoples.  We got to start it again, like the black contractors; we have a lot of them.  We got to 

ensure they get an opportunity to work on Peoples, the Harlem Supper Club and all of the 

neighborhood.  We'll talk about the master development agreement at that appropriate time, but 

we have to look at, with the cameras -- it didn't do anything for Eric Garner; it was filmed, 

nothing happened.  It'll be on public streets.  It's right, the CCTV is modeled after Israel; Britain 

has it; New York has it.  It's a great program, but that shouldn't be the only thing.  We should be 

looking at how we can be able to work with the residents, because it's the residents who are the 

eyes and the ears; not the cameras, not the police, but the community, and I'm again asking you 

to look at that proposal, look at the merits of the proposal, look at the success of the proposal, 

and then consider refunding it along with the police, because it was always a -- how can I put it? 

-- it was a partnership between Peacemakers, the Peace Service workers and the Police 

Department.  Thank you.
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Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, Mr. Muhammad.  

Applause

Chair Hardemon:  Please, decorum; please, decorum; decorum, please.

Ms. Holmes:  Good evening again.  I'm Madam Holmes; qualifying address, 350 Lebray Place; 

your district, Commissioner Hardemon.  It's a pleasure to be here.  Happy New Year.  And with 

that, I, too, agree that most of these projects are rewardable and may become a benefit to the 

community residents and performed by a few folks I know, but as always being a woman, I 

separate the importance of certain others as opposed to the general thing that we do.  To my 

businesses and entrepreneur as a resident, as a organizer, Commissioners, I do feel that there's 

disproportionate attention being given to the biggest partner, and the biggest resource, and the 

assets in Overtown, and that we're losing those benefits because of the gentrification and the 

policing of violence issue.  I concur with Mr. Muhammad; however, we know that crime is not of 

poverty, but what is a crime is for those who benefit, the most vulnerable, not to be empowered.  

We are not just the Peacemakers.  Just yesterday, we took over 78 motorcyclists, free masons, 

doctors, lawyers and seniors on a third level phase trip according to the assertive response in 

which I presented to you and the others.  I am the creator of the Cease Fire by law and by fact.  

But note, I still do this work as a resident, and I do it very well.  We work very well with the 

NROs (Neighborhood Resource Officers) in the partnership.  I am also the woman who's 

advocated through Women in Poverty and Single Mother Head of Household Districts who are 

always the victim and never the survivors.  Well, if that's the case, there could be many more like 

me if I had the more resources.  I think that this agency itself could benefit from putting some 

monies into those, because just like Liberty Square and the others that we rode through, we have 

21 cameras at $100,000 apiece that have watched children die and women die underneath them.  

So I, too, must ask you for a balance.  I, too, must ask you to proportionately put some money 

into these cameras [sic].  And let's remember, cameras are after the fact; they do nothing for 

prevention.  We've put more than twice -- 200 percent more into the Shot-Caller.  After the shot, I 

just got a whole lot of dead bodies.  So I concur with Mr. Muhammad.  Peacemakers is more 

male-driven, but you are working with a population and have mission to improve the quality of 

life, the safety and health of myself and the other women and children that I serve proficiently 

without those adequate resources.  I note also that around your table that it is disproportionately 

men.  Don't hate me, I'm not a feminist.  I just know who does the job very well when it comes to 

single women head of household.  And so with that, I leave you to yourself, gentlemen, to do 

what men do.  However, the question is asked:  What did those other cameras in poor women 

single district do?  Have they saved us?  No.  I would like to question you, Mr. Chair, now, 

although I know we have quite and I know you have quite a bit, an agenda, but would you 

address this entire Board.  What will you do for women in this district to directly empower them 

to protect themselves, other than purchase cameras which just give us movies about dying in 

urban and blight and slum areas?  Thank you so much.  I'm Madam Holmes with the Women's 

Association Alliance Against Injustice and Violence.  If you have any interest in any of the 

community ordered policing due to our expertise, then you can ask me or you can ask the many 

mothers out here, as well.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Applause

Chair Hardemon:  Please, everybody; please, everyone, listen.  In the CRA meetings, people are 

going to give lots of passionate speeches.  We cannot afford for everyone to clap after each 

speech, so in the CRA meetings, much like the County, we don't clap.  So I'm asking that you 

refrain from clapping.  Seeing no other persons here for public discussion -- yes, we have one 

last.
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Nathan Kurland:  Nathan Kurland, 3132 Day Avenue, Commissioners.  Good evening, ladies 

and gentlemen.  Good evening, ladies and gentlemen.  

The Audience:  Good evening.

Mr. Kurland:  Thank you all very much.  I'm talking about item number 4.  This is in no way 

impugning Executive Director Woods.  I serve on six boards of directors, and not on a single 

board does the executive director have, quote, “in his sole discretion,” the ability to give away 

up to $200,000 for whatever reason.  I ask that this either be tabled or rejected.  Thank you.  

Chair Hardemon:  Seeing no other persons here for public hearing for items 1 through 11, I'm 

going to close the public hearing at this time, and I'll open up the floor for the Board Members 

for discussion, or if there is a motion to approve items 1 through 11 and then have a discussion.  

Commissioner Gort.

Board Member Gort:  I have a couple of questions.  I mean, I'm in favor of the million dollar 

grant, but I'd like to see -- because I go to that restaurant and I buy the ribs there; they're very 

good.  But I want to see how the funds are going to be used.

Clarence Woods (Executive Director, Southeast Overtown/Park West Community Redevelopment 

Agency):  Well, Commissioner, all this item does is it allocates the money and it sets it aside.  

This is not requesting the expenditure.  What is going to happen is we are working with the 

business owner.  She has procured an architect.  The architect is working on the plans that will 

create a scope of work as well as a schedule of values.  Then she will -- they will bid those plans 

out.  That would then come back to this Board for approval for the expenditure.  But this is 

basically a good faith measure to show her that we are actually -- I mean she's been kind of like 

the forgetting person in the community, like --

Board Member Gort:  I think it's a great location and with everything that's happening in 

Overtown, it could be great.  Look how Jackson Soul Food is doing; they're doing very good.  

They have the facility --

Mr. Woods:  Yes, sir.

Board Member Gort:  -- and I want to make sure that they're very successful --

Mr. Woods:  Yes.

Board Member Gort:  -- when they put their plan together.

Mr. Woods:  And once we get those -- the actual cost for -- we have an idea.  The architect have 

[sic] given us an idea of what the cost should be.  Once we get those proposals, we will then 

come back to this Board.

Board Member Gort:  So what you're telling me is we're approving the funding --

Mr. Woods:  To set it aside.

Board Member Gort:  -- to set aside.

Mr. Woods:  Mm-hmm.

Board Member Gort:  Okay.  It has to come back to us for the final plan.

Mr. Woods:  Yes, yes.
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Board Member Gort:  Okay.

Chair Hardemon:  Commissioner Suarez.

Board Member Suarez:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Yeah, my question is similar, which is, you know, 

it says in the backup that it's a 2,300-square-foot property.  I don't know that that's accurate, 

because sometimes, the Property Appraiser's Office is not accurate.  And the schematics look 

larger, but it's hard to tell without, you know, obviously going out there and doing a survey of the 

property.  But that's -- it's important to kind of explain, I think, why a property of that size needs 

an expenditure that large to complete.

Mr. Woods:  Well, I think you're talking about a different property than what Commissioner Gort 

is talking about.  

Board Member Gort:  But you're allocating a million on both properties.

Mr. Woods:  Right, sure.

Board Member Gort:  That's a large amount of money.

Mr. Woods:  Yes.  The --

Board Member Suarez:  I'm talking about 10, I think it is.  I'm sorry.

Mr. Woods:  Yeah, you're talking about 10.

Board Member Suarez:  Yeah, right.

Chair Hardemon:  What you're talking about, you're talking about 10.  You're talking about 10.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Six, six.

Mr. Woods:  Well 10 --

Board Member Sarnoff:  Nine, nine, nine.

Mr. Woods:  Well, 10 does have the backup in it.  It does have all of the plans, as well as -- well, 

actually, the renderings and a budget.  

Board Member Suarez:  Yeah, and I mean, and I looked through the budget and I'm -- I guess his 

point is that it seems like a large expenditure for a 2,300-square-foot property, but the property 

looks larger than 2,300 square feet, even though that's what the tax roll has it at.  I mean, it looks 

like significantly larger.  I don't know that that's what it is or not.

Mr. Woods:  It is -- well, I -- let me not say it is.

Board Member Suarez:  Right.

Mr. Woods:  But I think it is larger than the 2,300 square feet, because actually, a couple of 

properties -- there is an additional property that's set off to the side.  This is the old Clyde Killens 

house.  What we've done a few months ago is we allocated money to rehab the Clyde Killens 

Pool Hall.

Board Member Suarez:  Right.
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Mr. Woods:  And I'm sure by now everybody knows who Clyde Killens is.  But it's actually an 

eyesore right now in the community, and it has suffered quite a bit of damage with the homeless 

population congregating in and around the building.  So the idea was to make it a signature type 

of --

Board Member Suarez:  I like that.

Mr. Woods:  -- club and the expenses are --

Board Member Suarez:  Detailed.

Mr. Woods:  Yes, they are detailed in this.

Board Member Suarez:  And I didn't see one specific category that stuck out at me.  It's just I 

think the total amount for the size I think does -- there is -- you know, there's a little bit of sticker 

shock there and so, you know, I would just, you know, maybe it's a good -- I mean, I don't have a 

problem voting in favor of it.  I just -- because I know that the Chair -- and he should -- and I 

think we all want to see things progress expeditiously in Overtown, and I think now more than 

ever, so I don't want to hold anything up.  But I would like to meet with them and just get a sense 

for why it's going to cost that much money.

Mr. Woods:  We can have you meet with the owners.

Board Member Suarez:  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Is there any further discussion from the Board Members?

Board Member Sarnoff:  Yeah.  Let me just say on item number 6 --

Chair Hardemon:  You're recognized.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Thank you.  Just so you understand it, to put a million dollars aside 

based on the amount of documentation we have --

Mr. Woods:  Item number 6?

Board Member Sarnoff:  I'm sorry, 9.

Board Member Suarez:  Nine.

Mr. Woods:  Oh, item number 9.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Right.

Mr. Woods:  Again, what we're doing is we're allocating the funding.  We will be back once we 

get the actual cost.  What we've -- the reason we looked at a million dollars is that there were 

some preliminary takeoffs by the architect.  Once they get pricing -- obvious -- we believe that it 

will come in under a million dollars, but as in any redevelopment project, there are some 

unforeseens or some unknowns.  Generally, we do provide for unknowns in our budgets so that 

we don't have to come back to you guys if there is a cost that is much more than what we 

anticipate.  But this way, we've set aside a million dollars.  We'll get the actual budget and we'll 

come back to you.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Well, I'm -- just -- to get my vote, Commissioner, I don't mind the -- 
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well, I shouldn't say I don't mind the allocation.  I don't think it's adequate documentation for the 

allocation, but I may still vote for it since it's not going to be spent.

Mr. Woods:  No, it's not.

Board Member Sarnoff:  However, as you and I saw this morning, there is a billboard on this 

particular site.  We've been able to ascertain that billboard is part of that actual parcel .

Mr. Woods:  Yes.

Board Member Sarnoff:  So hang on.  What I'd like to see is a budget of all the money this entity 

takes in and all the expenses it pays out, because I first want to justify the need to do this.

Mr. Woods:  I've -- since we've had that conversation this morning, I've done some additional 

due diligence regarding the billboard, and I'll be prepared to share that with you.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Okay.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  Commissioner.

Board Member Gort:  The one last thing is your marketing plan that you're putting together.

Mr. Woods:  Yes.

Board Member Gort:  I want to make sure that this marketing plan takes in consideration all 

these new facilities that are being built not only for the local people to visit , but you want people 

from the outside, especially with all the new construction that's going to be taking place to come 

to Overtown and spend their monies in Overtown.

Mr. Woods:  Absolutely.  And just because we did hear some comments from Andre Williams with 

eyeurban, for clarity about this particular item, there is no particular vendor or, you know, 

owner yet associated with this particular item.  This is to set the funds aside.  We will procure 

every service that we look to or use this money for.  Ideally, right now, what we're looking at is 

doing -- because we've heard from you guys, from the Board, that we have not marketed the 

redevelopment area in the way that it should be.  One of the ideas that we were looking at using 

this funding for is to have a 3D virtual reality that would basically consist of a tour through the 

redevelopment area as it is now, and then it would go back and tour the area and repopulate the 

renderings or the actual tour with the actual buildings that are being built , with all the 

development that is actually happening now, so it would give a kind of “before” and “after” 

look, you know, on a tour through the redevelopment area.  That's one of the items that we're 

looking at using this funding for.  We also are looking at doing commercial spots, as well as 

rebranding the redevelopment area with our website.  So it's a total marketing program that we 

will be procuring those services, and it's not just me, you know, making those decisions on my 

own.

Board Member Gort:  Okay.

Chair Hardemon:  Any further discussion from the Board Members?  

Neil Shiver:  Neil Shiver, assistant director of the CRA.  On agenda number -- item number 11, I 

just want you to know that there is no specified amount on item 11, so if you could pass it in 

general and we'll deal with it later, but there is no specified amount on that item.  So I just want 

you to know when you vote on these collectively, I'd like to be a little more specific on this item.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  Any further discussion from the Board Members?  Any 
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further discussion?  If there's no further discussion, I'd like to ask the Board for a motion and a 

second to approve items number RE.1 through 11.

Board Member Suarez:  So moved.

Board Member Gort:  Second as changed in the way were before --

Board Member Suarez:  As modified.

Board Member Gort:  -- that they'll be coming back to us.

Chair Hardemon:  It's been properly moved and seconded that we accept and approve agenda 

items RE.1 through 11.  Is there any further unreadiness?  Hearing none, all in favor, say “aye.”

The Board (Collectively):  Aye. 

Chair Hardemon:  Motion passes.

RESOLUTIONS

14-01181

1. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY, WITH ATTACHMENT(S), AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT, IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE ATTACHED 

FORM, WITH MASTER CHOICE, LLC, AS THE SOLE PROPOSER IN 

RESPONSE TO RFP NO. 13-007, FOR THE LEASE OF COMMERCIAL 

SPACE AT 1490 N.W. 3rd AVENUE, UNIT NO. 111, MIAMI FLORIDA; 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE.

File # 14-01181 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01181 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01181 Legislation.pdf

File # 14-01181 Exhibit.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0067

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 1, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-00261

2. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY APPROVING THE BUDGET OF CREATIVE COMMERCIAL INSIGHT 

AND RESTORATION, INC. ("CCIR") AS THE HIGHEST RANKED PROPOSER 

TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS NO. 14-04, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 

Page 12City of Miami Printed on 2/12/2015

http://egov.ci.miami.fl.us/Legistarweb/Attachments/78549.pdf
http://egov.ci.miami.fl.us/Legistarweb/Attachments/78086.pdf
http://egov.ci.miami.fl.us/Legistarweb/Attachments/78087.pdf
http://egov.ci.miami.fl.us/Legistarweb/Attachments/78641.pdf


Meeting Minutes December 29, 2014SEOPW Community Redevelopment Agency

EXCEED $102,000, TO DESIGN AND IMPLEMENT A MURAL ON THE 3RD 

AVENUE METRORAIL GUIDEWAY; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTOR TO DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, ON A 

REIMBURSEMENT BASIS OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON 

PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE; FUNDS TO BE 

ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW TAX INCREMENT FUND, ENTITLED "OTHER 

G R A N T S  A N D  A I D S , "  A C C O U N T  C O D E  N O . 

10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-00261 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-00261 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-00261 Backup.pdf

File # 14-00261 Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0068

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 2, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01037

3. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT 

TO EXCEED $275,000, TO THE CITY OF MIAMI FOR A POLICE CAMERA 

PILOT PROGRAM WITHIN THE REDEVELOPMENT AREA; AUTHORIZING 

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, 

ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON 

PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE; ALLOCATING FUNDS 

FROM SEOPW, "OTHER GRANTS AND AIDS," ACCOUNT CODE NO. 

10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01037 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01037 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01037 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01037 Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0069

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 3, please refer to minutes under Order of the 
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Day.

14-01036

4. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO PROCURE 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TO MARKET AND PROMOTE CURRENT AND 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE REDEVELOPMENT AREA; 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS 

DISCRETION, ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, 

UPON PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND SATISFACTORY 

DOCUMENTATION; FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE; 

$200,000 ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW, "PROFESSIONAL SERVICES," 

ACCOUNT CODE NO. 10050.920101.531000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01036 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01036 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01036 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01036 Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0070

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 4, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01034

5. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT 

TO EXCEED $200,000, TO MIAMI DADE COLLEGE TO UNDERWRITE 

COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH ITS CURRENT OPERATION OF THE 

HOSPITALITY AND CULINARY INSTITUTE; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID 

PURPOSE; FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 

DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS 

OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND 

SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; FUNDS TO BE ALLOCATED FROM 

SEOPW TAX INCREMENT FUND, ENTITLED "OTHER GRANTS AND AIDS," 

ACCOUNT CODE NO. 10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01034 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01034 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01034 Backup.pdf

File  # 14-01034 Legislation.pdf
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Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0071

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 5, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01035

6. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT 

TO EXCEED $110,000, TO NEW WASHINGTON HEIGHTS COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT CONFERENCE, INC. ("NEW WASHINGTON HEIGHTS") TO 

UNDERWRITE COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTINUED OPERATION 

OF "FOLKLIFE FRIDAYS", A MONTHLY OPEN-AIR MARKET TO BE HELD ON 

THE 9TH STREET PEDESTRIAN MALL DURING THE 2015 CALENDAR 

YEAR; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE; FURTHER AUTHORIZING 

THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, 

ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON 

PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; 

FUNDS TO BE ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW TAX INCREMENT FUND, 

ENTITLED "OTHER GRANTS AND AIDS," ACCOUNT CODE NO. 

10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01035 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01035 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01035 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01035 Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0072

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 6, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01182

7. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT 

TO EXCEED $50,000, TO TRANSITION, INC., TO UNDERWRITE COSTS 

ASSOCIATED WITH GENERAL OPERATIONS FOR SUPPORTIVE 

SERVICES PROVIDED TO EX-OFFENDERS; AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR 
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SAID PURPOSE; FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 

DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS 

OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND 

SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; FUNDS TO BE ALLOCATED FROM 

SEOPW TAX INCREMENT FUND, ENTITLED "OTHER GRANTS AND AIDS," 

ACCOUNT CODE NO. 10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01182 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01182 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01182 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01182 Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0073

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 7, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01277

8. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE SOUTHEAST 

OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

RATIFYING THE EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO 

EXCEED $11,000, TO UNDERWRITE COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE 2014 

HOLIDAY TREE LIGHTING EVENT HELD ON N.W. 3RD AVENUE, MIAMI, 

FLORIDA; FUNDS TO BE ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW TAX INCREMENT 

FUND, ENTITLED "GRANTS AND OTHER AIDS," ACCOUNT CODE NO. 

10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01277 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01277 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01277 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01277 Signed Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0074

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 8, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01283

9. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 

$1,000,000, TO PEOPLES DRUG STORE, INC., FOR THE REHABILITATION 
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OF "PEOPLE'S BAR-B-QUE", A FULL SERVICE BAR-B-QUE RESTAURANT 

IN THE REDEVELOPMENT AREA, LOCATED AT 360 N.W. 8TH STREET, 

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33136; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 

DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, ON A REIMBURSEMENT BASIS 

OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND 

SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR 

SAID PURPOSE; FUNDS TO BE ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW TAX 

INCREMENT FUND, ENTITLED "OTHER GRANTS AND AIDS," ACCOUNT 

CODE NO. 10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01283 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01283 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01283 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01283 Signed Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0075

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 9, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01282

10. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY AUTHORIZING A GRANT, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 

$1,250,000, TO HARLEM SQUARE, LLC, FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 

"HARLEM SQUARE", A SUPPER CLUB/LOUNGE, LOCATED AT 173 N.W. 

11TH STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33136; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTOR TO DISBURSE FUNDS, AT HIS DISCRETION, ON A 

REIMBURSEMENT BASIS OR DIRECTLY TO VENDORS, UPON 

PRESENTATION OF INVOICES AND SATISFACTORY DOCUMENTATION; 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE ALL 

DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR SAID PURPOSE; FUNDS TO BE 

ALLOCATED FROM SEOPW TAX INCREMENT FUND, ENTITLED "OTHER 

GRANTS AND AIDS," ACCOUNT CODE NO. 

10050.920101.883000.0000.00000.

File # 14-01282 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01282 Financial Form.pdf

File # 14-01282 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01282 Signed Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0076
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Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 10, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01287

11. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 

SOUTHEAST OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY ("CRA"), APPROVING A SALARY INCREASE FOR CLARENCE E. 

WOODS, III, THE CURRENT EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE CRA. 

File # 14-01287 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01287 Signed Legislation.pdf

Motion by Board Member Suarez, seconded by Vice-Chair Gort, that this matter be 

ADOPTED PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and Commissioner Sarnoff

Absent: Commissioner Carollo

CRA-R-14-0077

Note for the Record:  For minutes related to item 11, please refer to minutes under Order of the 

Day.

14-01286

12. CRA RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE SOUTHEAST 

OVERTOWN/PARK WEST COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, WITH 

ATTACHMENTS, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN ECONOMIC 

INCENTIVE AGREEMENT, IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE ATTACHED FORM, 

WITH MIAMI FIRST, LLC, MIAMI SECOND, LLC, MIAMI THIRD, LLC, MIAMI 

FOURTH, LLC, AND MIAMI A/I, LLC (COLLECTIVELY, THE "MASTER 

DEVELOPER"), AND FORBES MIAMI NE 1ST AVENUE, LLC (THE "RETAIL 

DEVELOPER") IN CONNECTION WITH THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE MIAMI 

WORLDCENTER MIXED-USE PROJECT.

File # 14-01286 Cover Memo.pdf

File # 14-01286 Backup.pdf

File # 14-01286 Legislation.pdf

File # 14-01286 Exhibit.PDF

Motion by Board Member Sarnoff, seconded by Board Member Suarez, that this matter be 

ADOPTED WITH MODIFICATIONS PASSED by the following vote.

Votes: Ayes: Chair Hardemon, Commissioner Carollo, Vice Chair Gort, Commissioner Suarez and 

Commissioner Sarnoff

CRA-R-14-0078

Chair Hardemon:  Moving on now to RE.12. 

Clarence Woods (Executive Director, Southeast Overtown/Park West Community Redevelopment 

Agency):  Commissioners --

Chair Hardemon:  Decorum, please, decorum.  Ladies and gentlemen, please, decorum.
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Mr. Woods:  -- item number 12 is a resolution of the Board of Commissioners of the Southeast 

Overtown/Park West Community Redevelopment Agency, with attachments, authorizing the 

execution of an economic incentive agreement, in substantially the attached form, with Miami 

First, LLC (Limited Liability Company); Miami Second, LLC; Miami Third, LLC; Miami Fourth, 

LLC and Miami AI, LLC, collectively, the master developer; and Forbes Miami Northeast 1st 

Avenue, LLC, the retail developer, in connection with the development of the Miami Worldcenter 

Mixed Use Project.  

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  I'm going to open up the floor for public hearing on 

this item.  Those who have signed up for public hearing on this item will be called from the 

Clerk, so when your name is called, please come to the lectern and address the body.

Todd B. Hannon (City Clerk):  The first three speakers will be Alyce Robertson, Kim Stone and 

Grace Solares.

Alyce Robertson:  Good evening.  My name is Alyce Robertson, executive director of the Miami 

Downtown Development Authority.  I'm here to speak in favor of this item.  This area of Park 

West has long been dormant.  In fact, when I moved to Miami in 1979, it was already an 

underutilized area and just got worse over time.  So a project of this size is going to provide the 

critical mass needed to help spur the economic development in this area of town.  With the 

Midtown CRA (Community Redevelopment Agency), they -- the development that occurred as a 

result of what went on in improving the infrastructure helped spur growth in many of the 

neighborhoods surrounding there, including my own neighborhood of Morningside.  It improved 

after the Midtown CRA went in place and they actually built the retail that's there.  So the 

economic spillover of this Miami Worldcenter is going to improve the entire area surrounding 

that part of downtown and also improve the neighborhoods surrounding the Park West area .  So 

I want to support this.  I also have a resolution of the DDA (Downtown Development Authority) 

Board to enter into the record in favor of Miami Worldcenter.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  

Kim Stone:  Good evening, Commissioners.  Kim Stone, general manager for American Airlines 

Arena.  Thank you for having me today.  I'm here to express our support for the TIF (Tax 

Increment Fund).  It will bring support to critical infrastructure upgrades that are badly needed 

in the area.  Additionally, it's going to bring economic development as well as jobs to this area 

and its residents.  Once built, these jobs will be needed to support the world-class retail and 

dining options that guests of the AA (American Airlines) -- excuse me -- AA Arena will most 

certainly enjoy and frequent.  So we're here to throw our support behind this.  We appreciate the 

hard work you do.

Grace Solares:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.  I am going to read the resolution into the record, 

and then I'm going to give it to the Clerk so that it goes with the record, okay, from the UEL 

(Urban Environment League).  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  My name is Grace Solares, president of 

the Urban Environment League.  We issued this resolution today; I think it was late in the 

afternoon, and, hopefully, was circulated, but I'll read it into the record and give it to Todd 

Hannon afterwards.  Whereas the Urban Environment League, while supporting smart growth 

has long been an advocate against corporate welfare and projects that can adversely affect the 

quality of life of Miami's communities; and whereas the UEL has long believed that transparency 

and community involvement to mitigate the impact of major projects are key to building 

long-term sustainable communities; and whereas the UEL wishes to raise some important 

questions and concerns about the proposed TIF rebate agreement being voted on today to benefit 

the Miami Worldcenter, most importantly, the utter lack of community involvement and the 

deviation from the stated goals of the Southeast Overtown/Park West; whereas in 1982, the City 

of Miami created the Southeast Overtown/Park West, the stated reason at the time for including 
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Park West was that once Park West was developed, the proximity to the waterfront meant that the 

Park West would organically develop before Overtown, was to use tax increment financing -- the 

TIF money that we hear being referred to here -- from the Park West area to subsequently 

develop Overtown, this long-suffering community has waited 32 years for this to happen.  And 

now, when it finally is occurring, the CRA intends to issue TIF rebates to the developer, 

effectively breaking a decades-long promise to the community; and whereas the UEL believes 

that there has been inadequate vetting and public oversight of this proposal , witness the date of 

this meeting between Christmas and New Year, and the fact that supporting documents were not 

released to the public until Christmas Eve -- which, as a matter of fact, Mr. Chair, I went to the 

CRA website today and was able to get a copy of the agenda, but the document [sic] that are 

referred to on each item as being attached, they're not; supporting documentations are not 

available to us, so I haven't been able to read anything -- and whereas the Overtown Advisory 

Board, the legally appointed entity representing the community, passed a resolution on 

December 18 requiring the CRA to allow review and comments by the Board as required by the 

redevelopment plan; whereas there are serious questions and uncertainties about the legality 

under the Florida Redevelopment Act of effectively giving tax rebates in exchange for minority 

hiring of firms that are located outside of the redevelopment area, which questions and 

uncertainties must be resolved by way of a legal opinion from the Attorney General of the State 

prior to any --

Chair Hardemon:  Ms. Solares --

Ms. Solares:  -- allocation of funds or entering -- I'll be closing in a second.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you.

Ms. Solares:  -- into any kind of agreement with the Miami Worldcenter, its subsidiaries, 

partners, heirs and assigns; wherefore now the Urban Environment League requests that the 

Commissioner member of the CRA Board defer the Worldcenter item presently scheduled for 

today, and more specifically identified as agenda number 12, Legislation 14-01286, so that the 

citizens and the media receive full access to all the documents that I said we have not been able 

to see and that have been drafted in relation to the contemplated agreement so that a transparent 

and public vetting can take place.  Too often, we have seen the City of Miami rush into deals with 

the private sector with disastrous result.  Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.   

Applause

Chair Hardemon:  So I'm asking everyone here to be respectful of everyone's time and of the 

rules that we set forth in the CRA.  Please refrain from clapping so that we can move through the 

agenda the way that we need to, please.  Thank you very much.  And Ms. Solares, the agenda 

items, the attachments are on the City of Miami's website.  When you go to the City of Miami's 

website and you look under the different meetings that are scheduled, when you click on the CRA 

meetings which was scheduled for today, as you know how they're set up, you can get all the 

documentation from there.  

Ms. Solares:  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  You are very welcome.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers are Cecilia Stewart, Derek Cole and Peter Ehrlich.  

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  May you please have a seat, Ms. -- Reverend Lincoln?
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Derek Cole:  You're supposed to put your name on the list.

Shoshana Lincoln:  My name is there.

Mr. Cole:  Okay.  Well, they'll call you when it's time.  I'm going to read a little something into 

the record.  Derek Cole.  Born and raised in Miami, 1949.  I'm also a member of the Overtown 

Advisory Board.  The Overtown Advisory Board was created as a formal organization to 

represent the community in redevelopment matters, and I'll quote from the CRA Redevelopment 

Plan.  “The Overtown Advisory Board has been designated the community-based mechanism for 

monitoring the redevelopment activities within the Overtown community.”  Last Thursday, we 

already heard we passed a resolution, and we're formally requesting that you defer this item until 

we have a chance to have legal representation review it.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.  You can please give it to the Clerk to enter into the 

record.  Was Mr. Ehrlich next in line?  Yes, third?  Okay.

Mae Christian:  I'm Mae Christian, and I'm in support of his recommendation.  I represent the 

Oversight Board for the City of Miami and I live at 4824 Northwest 15th Court, Miami.

Peter Ehrlich:  Good evening again.  Peter Ehrlich, and I'm speaking in support of the Urban 

Environment League and also the Overtown Advisory Board, and asking you as the Board 

Members to defer this item, but initially, we'd like a very thorough discussion and probing 

questions for -- so that everybody in the audience and everybody that will be watching this on TV 

(television) will understand exactly what's being given away, how much money is going from the 

taxpayers to the developers.  Thank you very much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers are Henry Brown, Sam Gilmore and Romina Meta.

Henry Brown:  Good evening.  My name is Henry Brown.  I was born and raised in Overtown.  I 

went to Douglas Elementary School, and I'm the liaison for ESTOPP.  That's Eradicating School 

to Prison Pipeline.  First, I think it's ridiculous to expect anyone from my community that is 

directly affected by this project to have a chance to read and understand this agreement.  It was 

posted publicly on Friday, the day after Christmas, and it's voted on the first business day.  Just 

last week, the CRA website said this meeting was rescheduled.  The only conclusion to draw is 

that someone is trying to push this agreement through without anyone in my community or City 

knowing about it.  What is the rush in voting on this hundred million dollar agreement?  This 

vote should be postponed until everyone can have a chance to respond.  Secondly, I have been 

involved with my community pushing for local hiring for Overtown.  This agreement, as it is now, 

does absolutely nothing of the sort.  The first source hiring requirement in Exhibits G1, the hotels 

and G2, the retail, are worthless.  These requirements only have hiring targets for the 

development, and exclude hiring by third parties, and retained by the developer.  It doesn't bind 

the tenants to comply with the hiring goals; only that the tenants make certain job outreach 

efforts.  We in Overtown know a whole lot about efforts to hire residents; they fail.  Does the 

developer anticipate that it would be in the business of hiring or employing any hotel, restaurant 

or retail employees at this project?  Since “the employee” is defined as an individual employed 

by the developer in the first source hiring agreement, it does not include employees hired by 

tenants of the developer, correct?  Therefore, these first source hiring agreements will not apply 

to any of the hundreds of hotel or retail employees, right?  The hiring agreement would have no 

impact on hiring by tenants.  This agreement contains nothing for Miami's poorest 

neighborhoods, and the Board should postpone this vote until there are meaningful and 

enforceable requirement for hiring Overtown residents.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.  Please, don't do it.  Please, don't do it.  You're 
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recognized, sir.

Sam Gilmore:  How you doing?  Sam Gilmore.  I live at 2230 Northwest 193rd Terrace in Miami 

Gardens.  I represent the Allied Minority Contracts Association, and we have been in contact and 

negotiating with Nitin, and I won't try that last name, in reference to the Worldcenter Project.  I 

do understand the reservations of the community in terms of being hired.  

Unidentified Speaker:  (UNINTELLIGIBLE)

Mr. Gilmore:  I won't.  What we did do, though, is on the American Airlines Arena, we had the 

same problem, and we had the problem with black contractors being hired and producing jobs 

for the people in the area.  As a direct result of what we did, we ended up with about 14 black 

companies working on the overall job.  I, myself, had about 89 workers from the immediate 

vicinity, and payrolls ran $62,000 a week.  We've got the very same process in place, and just by 

coincidence we've got the very same contractor, project manager, Travis Coulter, who's going to 

be the individual putting the packages together and making sure that the companies are working 

on the job.  Like everybody else here, there are -- is going to be reservations from especially 

black contractors.  We're asking you, Commissioner, to be involved in the process on a monthly 

meeting to ensure that your residents are being hired, not only by the other contractors, but by 

black contractors.  I know what I gave up to hire black people.  I gave up an airline pilot career 

to hire black people, and I've done just that over the years.  I've had over 600 workers and over 

$16 million in payroll.  So no matter what anybody thinks of me, I've done it; I got the IRS 

(Internal Revenue Service) to show it.  What I need your help in is sitting down with the 

developer, making sure that we stick to our plan.  And I understand that we can do that, because 

I'm going to hold that young man right there to it, and I'm pointing right at him.  Thank you so 

much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Gilmore:  Be blessed.

Romina Meta:  Good evening.  My name is Romina Meta.  I have been a resident of Miami for 

over 13 years.  I have been living in Brickell and downtown, and also working here for all this 

time.  I am in favor of the Miami Worldcenter Project, which will not only give growth 

improvement and a total transformation to our City, but most importantly, will help create 

thousands of job opportunity.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Julio Durand, Alan Rowsen (phonetic) and Jackie Bell.

Julio Durand:  Good evening.  My name is Julio Durand, and I am a resident of Miami, 

downtown area, and I just wanted to say that I also am in favor of the Miami Worldcenter 

Project, as well as with the TIF agreement.  I think, you know, just making sure that we link not 

only downtown Miami with the Bayside area, with this area, to make sure that we create a whole 

community is a fantastic thing for Miami just to turn it around, this whole area, as well as also to 

create the jobs, because I have worked in the downtown area for quite a while, and I know that 

this will create jobs, so I'm in full support of the agreement.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speaker --

Jackie Bell:  It was not my intention to speak, but I'm Jackie Bell, 1600 Northwest 3rd Avenue.  

I'm not interested in you all giving us jobs or we asking you for jobs on this project or any of the 

other.  What I would like to see you do is sit down and set aside 40 percent of the economics of 

this project or any of the others and make sure that we are in ownership, because there are plenty 

of things that are going to happen in all of this development that the CRA or New Washington 

Heights can help put together small businesses.  That's what I said to Mr. Woods:  Just give New 
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Washington Heights the toilet tissue contract for the development, and we'll be rich, and we can 

hire plenty of people.  So there are plenty of things that in this development, if you are going to 

give away the stuff that supposed to come to us -- what about the mattresses that the hotel will 

have to have?  What about the sheets that the hotel will have to have?  What about some of the 

doors that has to go?  Why can't we have some businesses out of this project and all of the other 

projects?  We won't need to ask you for no jobs, because if my community -- and I'm proud to say 

I am 77 years old, okay?  I have been working in Overtown --

Applause

Ms. Bell:  Don't do that.  I've been in Overtown.  All of what is happening now, we worked 

diligently from 1973 till now to make this happen, so I don't want you to give us no jobs, okay?  

What?  Because y'all -- everybody been promising us jobs, and my unborn children, which I 

won't have -- okay? -- should -- and everybody who's sitting in here who look like me.  The jobs 

that have been promised to us, each one of us women who have had a child and our children 

have had children, and our children's children -- we wouldn't need to be asking for no jobs; jobs 

would be lined up for us.  So I don't want no jobs.  

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Ms. Bell:  I want the contract for the doors.  I want the contract for the televisions.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, Ms. Bell.

Ms. Bell:  I want the contract for the draperies.  Those are the kinds of things that my community 

need that will put us in an economic position.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, Ms. Bell.

Ms. Bell:  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  Alan Rowsen (phonetic).  The next three speakers:  Alan Eichenbaum, Mike Hill 

and Georgette Dock.

Alan Eichenbaum:  Good evening, Commissioners.  Alan Eichenbaum, on behalf of the South 

Florida Building and Construction Trades Council.  I just wanted to address our position with 

respect to the efforts particularly of Commissioner Hardemon to include some type of wage 

requirement proposal with the developer.  And one of the reasons this is important is because 

governments have had wage requirements since the late 1800s.  The granddaddy of them all is 

Davis Bacon, which exists since 1931.  And while there are many studies that I can refer you to, I 

would like to refer to one in particular that was done in California.  They basically studied two 

counties, San Jose and Santa Clara, and over five years, the study concluded that San Jose, 

which had a city prevailing wage requirement, had an economic gain of $164 million in 

economic activity; they had a job increase of 1,510; they had almost $2 million in local tax 

revenue increase.  And more importantly, they discovered that the county was actually 

subsidizing out-of-town construction because they estimated that out of town, out-of-county 

construction workers were driving 121 million miles a year to come from another county to work 

in their county.  And the most important part of the study was they compared two libraries.  One 

was done in Palo Alto, without a prevailing wage requirement and one was done in San Jose.  In 

Palo Alto, without the prevailing wage requirement, only 11.8 percent of the work went to local 

contractors.  In San Jose, 71.2 percent of the work with the prevailing wage requirement went to 

local construction companies and local employees.  And particularly, a very important first start:  

We wish that the whole project would have been covered, but the portions that are covered will at 

least provide some economic benefit to the City.  Thank you.
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Mike Hill:  Good evening.  Mike Hill.  I just have a quick question for you guys.  I'd like to know 

if the CRA plans to amend their redevelopment agreement to include this project, and then if so, 

will that amendment be subject to the City and County approval?  If you could answer, that'd be 

helpful.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Write down his question, please.

Georgette Dock:  Good evening, everyone.  My name is Georgette Dock.  I've lived in Overtown 

most of my life.  I came here tonight to ask you to postpone this vote on this agreement for 

several reasons.  One huge problem is with this agreement, it does not provide a living wage for 

permanent workforce at the Miami Worldcenter.  Too many jobs are created in the Miami area 

that are minimum wage with no benefits.  This agreement essentially gives $170 million of our 

tax money to a developer and then lets them off the hook when it comes to permanent jobs that 

are created for the Overtown people.  Do you know how it is to provide for your family on $9 an 

hour?  It's impossible.  You are our City leaders.  We elected you.  You are our leadership.  We 

need you to care more [sic] about the wealthy developers and where we live -- I mean more 

about the wealthy developers we live -- we live in this area.  We deserve to know where our tax 

money will go and how it will be given to subsidize developments.  There needs to be an 

enforceable living wage for permanent workforce at the Miami Worldcenter before a vote or 

subsidies take place.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Michael Slyder, Stephen Beatus and Julie Grimes.

Michael Slyder:  Good evening, Commissioners.  Michael Slyder, on behalf of the Miami 

Entertainment District Association.  I've been to five or six of these hearings, and as you all 

know, I support wholeheartedly the Miami Worldcenter Project.  As you also know, MEDA 

(Miami Entertainment District Association) over the last four years has contributed over 

$800,000 to policing services.  And I want you to know that the developers that we're speaking 

about have been in support of that all those years.  I know some of you have reservations tonight, 

but I know these people personally.  They are who they say they are, and they will do what 

they're saying they're going to do; just give them a chance.  Thank you.

Stephen Beatus:  Mr. Chair, Commissioners, good evening.  My name is Stephen Beatus.  I'm 

with the Miami-Dade Beacon Council, and I'm here to speak in favor of the project.  As 

Miami-Dade County's official economic development partnership, the Beacon Council is 

charged with new job-generating investments to our community.  A comprehensive economic 

impact analysis of the Miami Worldcenter Project forecast the creation of 30,000 construction- 

and construction-related jobs, and over 13,000 permanent jobs created by the residential, 

commercial and convention center activities of the project.  Expanse for new job creation for the 

residents of the City of Miami and Miami-Dade County, coupled with the potential for significant 

new public sector revenues that'll be generated by the project make the Miami Worldcenter 

economically compelling and truly a landmark project.  It's very encouraging to support a 

project with such enormous potential to stimulate job creation and economic growth in Miami 

and its surrounding communities.  Thank you very much.

Julie Grimes:  Good evening.  My name is Julie Grimes, 1717 North Bayshore Drive.  I was one 

of the founders of the Hospitality Institute.  I'm in the hotel business here in Miami, representing 

the Doubletree Grand here tonight.  I was one of the founders of the Hospitality Institute in 

Overtown.  I don't know how many of you here in the room have engaged in that program or 

been part of it, but it takes place every quarter at Greater Bethel Church.  We've been doing this 

for almost seven years now, connecting residents of the Overtown area with job opportunities in 

the hospitality industry.  I have to say to you that I believe that this project could possibly be an 

incredible game-changer for not just downtown, but the entire community of Overtown and 

beyond.  This -- for anybody that really wants to engage, you are going to have the opportunity 

to do this.  There's going to be many ways you can do it, and you can do it whether it's in 
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construction, building, or as the outlets open with the hotel, the convention center.  I mean, when 

we talk about thousands of jobs, that is a lot of jobs.  And you have to start somewhere.  I mean, 

our industry in hospitality, you can start at the ground and work your way up.  You can start as a 

bellman, as a doorman, as a valet and suddenly, one day you can be a manager.  The manager 

of our hotel started as a bellman, and there are many, many stories like that in this town.  So I 

can tell you, you have to come in at the entry level, but you can grow, and there's plenty of 

opportunity.  And I really think that the folks at Miami Worldcenter have tried to reach out in 

every possible way, and I would really urge you to move this today.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Alayne Unterberger, Andre Williams and Jacqueline 

Carmona.

Alayne Unterberger:  Hello there.  Alayne Unterberger.  And I work at the Florida International 

University.  I would like to wholeheartedly support Henry Brown's comments as a resident living 

here about what he's seen in jobs.  But as I'm sitting here and I'm listening to these debates back 

and forth, it seems to me that what people are really talking about is the poor economic 

conditions of Overtown, and the inequality that people are living in.  I think that that means that 

we really have to look at this as not just some other project.  There needs to be more discussion.  

There needs to be more time.  This is being placed on an agenda at a bad time of the year for 

people to participate, and it really seems to be that if you read this -- and it's a long document -- 

there -- the agreement states that the City and County budget must approve this, and there's no 

timeline in there for that.  I don't know when that would happen, especially if this goes through 

today.  I believe that this needs to be postponed, and more dialogue needs to be had about this 

and how we're going to decrease inequality that happens all over Miami, because Miami is the 

City with the highest coefficient of inequality.  We want to narrow that, and Overtown's a great 

place to start.  So thank you for listening to me.

Andre Williams:  Andre Williams, eyeurbantv.com, the Overtown Media Center.  My interest with 

this project is pretty much based on what will come across the train tracks, because, as you say, 

as we know, jobs can easily end; it all depends on whether or not -- what's going on with the 

infrastructure and if it's -- but if you actually have stake -- that's what I was always taught -- 

have a stake or have an investment.  It seems like this building or this project will be a definite 

game-changer.  Being that I'm from Jersey, I've been in Miami Florida for 20 years, so I'm 

familiar with both sides of the north and south.  Seeing what's going on here now with that that 

reminds me of World Trade Center, which I think would be very beneficial to the City of Miami.  I 

think that'd be actually bringing in all the different ethnicity groups from different countries , it 

would be excellent.  But my concern lies with what comes across the track, and just giving people 

jobs, because jobs eventually could end.  But having people who are centered in these 

communities actually doing developments or building relationships with the Miami Project and 

making sure and ensuring people from the community have some type of vestment would be for 

me more sensible.  So that would be my thought process.  I am in support of it, because I think 

it's a great opportunity for the City of Miami, but I definitely want to be able to take some of that 

traffic, especially since if we're holding it here in this community, that means that some of these 

dollars may be possibly going towards it to make sure that the people from this community who 

have been here, meaning the Overtown community, have some type of vestment and get some 

type of, you know, compensation for -- from the project.  Thank you.

Jacqueline Carmona:  Good evening.  My name is Jackie Carmona.  I'm the community 

organizer with Unite Here Local 355.  Our union is here to support Overtown residents in the 

struggle for good jobs and a direct pipeline to these thousands of jobs that will be created by the 

Miami Worldcenter.  This agreement does nothing to create this pipeline.  Most of the language 

regarding jobs is entirely unenforceable.  It is there to merely placate concerns but to provide 

nothing of substance.  Therefore, this agreement should not be voted on today.  The CRA should 

not bulldoze through a decision today.  There needs to be more time allowed for the community's 

concerns to be addressed.  Thank you.
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Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Charles Cutler, Agnes Morton and Bill Riley.  The next 

three speakers:  Irby McKnight, Brian Barron [sic], and Evan Shapiro and Matt Ellish.

Irby McKnight:  Good afternoon again.  Irby McKnight again.  First, I want to say that hats off 

today, because there have been so many people who spoke here tonight that may have read my 

mind or maybe my computer is watching me.  But Grace, thank you so much.  It has definitely 

been 32 years.  I was the first speaker at Booker T. to organize the CRA, so I know why we 

wanted it.  And I know when the County Commission approved the City setting it up, I know why 

we did it, but 32 years later, it's been a nightmare.  I support this project because it doesn't make 

sense not to support it.  Why?  We have spoken against the homeless shelters that has -- that took 

away the innocence of our community.  I led a group of people before the City to speak against 

the HAC (Homeless Assistance Center).  I was assured that when this building opened, it would 

reduce homelessness in Overtown.  A lie ain't nothing to tell, and a lie has no class.  It doesn't 

care who tells it.  I support it because the way you have lit on this like a buzzard on a carcass, I'd 

like for you to do the same thing for us in Overtown 32 years later; we're waiting on it.  Irby 

McKnight spoke at the meeting to organize the CRA; Charles McFadden spoke, God bless the 

dead; Irby Bigg (phonetic) spoke, God bless the dead; Athalie Range spoke, God bless the dead.  

But I'm living, I'm right here to say I'm looking at you, and you lied.  Thank you.

Bill Riley:  I apologize.  I think maybe you called my name in the last three and I didn't 

understand.

Chair Hardemon:  You're recognized, Mr. Riley.

Mr. Riley:  Bill Riley.  Good evening, Mr. Chairman, Commissioners.  My name is Bill Riley, 

1657 Northwest 17th Avenue, Miami.  And I'm the president of the South Florida Building Trades 

Council.  On behalf of the Building Trades Council, I can tell you that we are united in our 

request to have the responsible wage applied to the entire project.  Commissioner Hardemon has 

been well aware of our position.  He has been open to discussions on this matter.  We have 

reviewed with him the history of the responsible wages here in South Florida, and have presented 

him with the national studies that examine the impact of wage and policies on the cost of 

projects.  There are numbers of studies, and when you review the studies, it is clear it does not -- 

does not -- cost more money to pay responsible wages.  When a general contractor has the 

opportunity to manage a project that requires responsible wages, they know that they will bring 

in the project on time and under budget.  And why is that?  Because you have better workers 

when you pay better wages.  Rather than using labor brokers, drifters willing to work for lower 

wages, a project has responsible wage policy in place, is able to recruit and retain skilled, 

capable and well trained workers.  Commissioners, we are encouraged that the negotiated 

agreement between -- that is before you today includes at least some of the policies of the least 

paid workers on a site and for workers who generally are paid a better wage.  This experiment 

which -- with the high and low wages for workers on this project should provide you with a clear 

record of how much better things work when you have a better worker on the project.  We are 

grateful for this first step.  We appreciate the efforts of Commissioner Hardemon and Mr. Nitin 

Monte [sic] Motwani negotiating these wage policies, but he knows well that we think that 

responsible wages should be applied for all of the building trades on all projects in the County -- 

the City -- I'm sorry.  I also urge that the City Commission, you support a local ordinance to 

require responsible wages for all of the building trades on all projects that are being subsidized 

with taxpayer funds, using public land or benefiting from the use of public rights-of-way.  Thank 

you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Hannon:  Brian Barron [sic], Evan Shapiro, Matt Ellish.
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Brian Barton:  Good evening.  My name is Brian Barton, and I am corporate director of human 

resources for MDM Hotel Group, which is involved in the Miami Worldcenter, and I'm here to 

support the project.  With me here today are a few members of our company that, if you would, 

please raise your hand to show that you are with me in this.  And also, through MDM Hotel 

Group, there are 700 jobs, 700 associates that are currently working with us.  We believe that 

Miami is the gateway to the world, and we believe that this will enhance our economy; therefore, 

enhance the City and also the growth of our people.  I'm here to be -- happy to be here today to 

listen to the concerns of the community, because I believe that this should be a win-win situation 

and that this should be successful for all of us.  We support this project and we wish you a Happy 

New Year.

Chair Hardemon:  Before the next speaker speaks, give the cameraman an opportunity to change 

his tape; you can approach the lectern though.

Evan Shapiro:  Good evening.  My name is Evan Shapiro, and I'm here with Matt Ellish.  We are 

members of the Property Markets Group development team.  We've recently invested a significant 

amount into this area and we're here tonight to vocalize our support for this project.  We have 

bought properties in the downtown Miami area, and the CBD (Commercial Business District) in 

particular with the idea that there's a true opportunity to fill the critical mass in this City, and 

this project is really the foundation of that idea.  We think the development team that they have 

and they've put together with MDM should really lead to great carryover effect for this area, so 

again, we'd like to vocalize our support.  Thank you.

Matt Ellish:  Matt Ellish, Property Markets Group.  I just wanted to add to what Evan just said, 

and say that this project is obviously a long time coming.  We believe it will really accelerate 

growth in an area that could use it, and I think this area basically has been the hole in the 

doughnut, if you will, with all the exciting things that are going on in Miami, and we think this 

project can fill that hole and provide a really great opportunity to activate that area , make it a 

people place and have people of all walks of life, you know, use it as a -- basically a public 

mecca and, you know, we shouldn't lose sight of that, so we're in full support of it and look 

forward to the future of downtown, the real downtown, the CBD and Park West.

Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Kenneth Rattner, Dennis De Gori, Bereatha Howard.

Kenneth Rattner:  Good evening.  I'm a resident of 900 Biscayne.  I work downtown every day, 

and I'm also representing an adjacent landlord to the Miami Worldcenter; recently purchased 

over 10 acres of land, most of it in Overtown.  We did this after careful analysis and study of 

plans that Miami Worldcenter had.  They're very responsive, they're very reasonable people and 

their questions -- they gave us all the answers.  And the people that I work with absolutely would 

have only made the investment if they believed in our neighbors.  So we've actively participated, 

and we're going to be right there alongside them, but we urge you to help them so that we can 

help them once you help them get started.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  Chair, I just need the speaker's name.

Mr. Rattner:  Kenneth Rattner.

Mr. Hannon:  Thank you, sir.

Dennis De Gori:  Good evening.  Dennis De Gori, 29 Northeast 11th Street with 11 Miami; and 

also 15 Northeast 11th Street with Touché.  I want to say the same thing that the last speaker just 

said; that we made a considerable investment in Park West knowing of the Miami Worldcenter 

investment, what was coming.  But I want to talk more about jobs, what everyone's speaking 

about.  Between 11 Miami and Touché Miami, we employ over 350 people and have another 100, 

150 independent contractors.  Of my employees, I would say at least -- and these are real things 
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now.  A lot of people are talking about things which may be hard, what happened in the past, but 

I'm talking about realities.  We made a 40 million dollar investment in these two properties 

between the acquisition and redevelopment in Park West right next to Miami Worldcenter.  With 

my employees, at least 60 to 70 percent of my employees are either Hispanic or 

African-American.  Of my employees, the average employee in the first 11 months that we've 

been open, the average employee's made at least $40,000 a year.  Of my independent 

contractors, the average one has made $50,000 a year.  This is all hospitality driven; this is all 

the same type of jobs which are going to occur at Miami Worldcenter.  And I have about 17,500 

square feet to work with.  Miami Worldcenter has $750,000 worth of retail space that they're 

working with.  Most importantly, I just got to say, you know, I'm talking about realities.  A huge 

investment in the area made because of Miami Worldcenter was coming, because we believe in 

the neighborhood; 95 percent of my employees are Miami residents, are from Miami, came from 

Miami; many of them live in Park West; some of them live in Overtown and Midtown.  I 

personally live in Midtown Miami.  So more -- just some common sense:  There's really no 

reason for people not to hire the people you're speaking of, no reason, whatsoever.  These are 

good people who are making big investments and looking to do great things for Miami .  It's what 

I've done, it's what I believe I've done and those are the realities.  Thank you.  Dennis De Gori.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Hannon:  Bereatha Howard.  The next three speakers:  De Shawn (phonetic) Lopez, Jacob 

Coker and Dorothy Jackson.  The next three speakers:  Paul Savage, Reverend Lincoln and 

Brian Basti.  

Jacob Coker-Dukovitz:  Good evening.  How are you doing today?

Chair Hardemon:  Good evening.

Mr. Coker-Dukovitz:  Good.  My name is Jacob Coker-Dukovitz, which is hard.  My parents were 

mean to me.  They just combined all the last names and put them together.  And I am the regional 

lead for Southern Florida for Florida New Majority.  I had two questions that I did want to just 

register before jumping into comment, and those questions were:  One, following up earlier, if 

this economic incentive agreement is subject to actual approval from the City or County; and if 

there has been review of it with County officials or staff.  Thank you.  So the comment that I have 

is that --

Chair Hardemon:  One second, sir.  Did you record those questions?  

Mr. Coker-Dukovitz:  Got that.

Chair Hardemon:  Yes?

Mr. Coker-Dukovitz:  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Okay.

Mr. Coker-Dukovitz:  -- I would love to be able to say that we could put our faith in this massive 

project to protect and nurture Overtown through jobs, and support, and housing, and 

development, but I believe, after looking at the agreement, that every shred of an attempt to 

enforce what little is given is missing; that even we know from the earlier comment that first 

source hiring does not apply to either the mall or retail; that even the targeted hiring for 

construction, the 30 percent unskilled workers, 10 percent skilled, 20 percent subcontractors is 

not enforceable regionally; only for the whole County, because it's based off of the percentages 

which are only defined by the County.  Instead, we're asked to put a good faith effort; we're 

asked that they -- that we support a good faith effort to do those local hirings.  I wouldn't have a 
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good faith effort if I was just selling my car; wouldn't in good faith assume someone would pay 

me, and I wouldn't rely on that alone here.  I believe that this agreement, as it stands right now, 

is against the policies, is against the principles of the Florida Freedom Charter, of which 

Florida New Majority is a signer on, and I believe that we should hold off voting on it tonight.  

Thank you.

Ms. Lincoln:  Board, I'm Reverend Lincoln from People Helping People to be Self-Reliant.  

Board, you are quite cognizant to this situation why we have this third-tier governing body such 

as the CRA.  And what was the objective of the CRA is to build the infrastructure and the blight , 

remove the blight, and this third tier of government that's called the CRA has failed to do the 

infrastructure in Overtown, only focus on 3rd Avenue.  Now, if we failed the citizens who had 

vote that this power that was vested upon our Commissioners, these people need to be taken care 

of.  They need a dignified community, and our tax dollars is not to build World Trade -- 

Worldcenter.  Tax -- I personally enjoy great investors to come in this area, but you are quite 

aware that these investors has other source to get their money rather than to take our tax dollar , 

and I object to that Worldcenter, and I am focusing on the Commissioners to understand that if 

you do not give the citizen in Overtown a proper infrastructure and a dignified community , it will 

hurt their growth and will create more criminals in Overtown and more killing.

Paul Savage:  Good evening.  My name is Paul Savage with law offices at 100 Almeria Avenue, 

Suite 220, in Coral Gables, Florida.  I'm here representing Grand Central, LLC (Limited 

Liability Company), a nightclub that's on the subject property.  When we look at the development 

agreement that was already enacted by the City, and this incentive agreement, I believe that 

we've confounded the purpose of the CRA as some of our prior speakers mentioned.  The CRA is 

to address slum, blight, and provide affordable housing.

Mr. McKnight:  And historical preservation.

Mr. Savage:  And historic preservation.  Thank you.  What we have here is a purely private, 

absolutely private commercial enterprise going into this area, and I think that many of the 

speakers before me, many members of the community have voiced their concern that this is being 

rushed through.  I'm not sure that everyone here understands the economics.  What are we 

getting?  Why are we incentivizing?  Why do we need to incentivize this project?  This City right 

now is on fire with development.  Someone will come and build commercial enterprise there.  We 

don't need to give away this rich of an incentive, and I'm not sure that we all understand what we 

are getting.  Moreover, the -- most of this -- when I turned the page, I kept looking to say, “Okay, 

what are we going to get; a community center, affordable housing, a park?”  No.  It's just that 

they're going to build their private project and then they're going to meet certain employment 

requirements.  But that's -- that goes into the development agreement.  That goes into the 

development agreement, which we already have.  And someone raised the question, “Are we 

going to have to amend and reissue the development agreement now?”  Is it lawful that some 

things are going to go outside the boundary --?

Chair Hardemon:  Mr. Savage, your time has expired.  May you please come to a conclusion?

Mr. Savage:  Thank you, Commissioner.  Thank you, Commissioner.  I will remind you that a 

court has ruled that my client has standing above the public-at-large, and I have a court order to 

that effect, but I'll be done in 45 seconds.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Savage:  Is it lawful -- are the requirements even enforceable?  They are -- they may be 

assigned at will.  Many people have pointed out we're not sure if they're even enforceable, if the 

penalties are commensurate to hold them to it.  The tax benefit is very valuable.  They may just 

decide to pay the penalties.  I would respectfully request that the Board defer this item past the 
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holidays.  There's been no evidence of an exigency or an emergency.  There's some mention in 

the paper of private contracts with Macy's or others.  That's not our problem.  Don't let the tail 

wag the dog.  This community deserves to have this fully vetted when everyone's back from 

vacation.  Thank you very much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Hannon:  De Shawn (phonetic) Lopez, Dorothy Jackson, Brian Basti.

Dorothy Jackson:  God evening.

Chair Hardemon:  Good evening.

Ms. Jackson:  Yes, God evening; that's who made the night.  My name is Dorothy Jackson.  I stay 

on 7th Court.  I'm 51.  I been here all my life; you know that.  I wanted to say -- because 

someone knock on my door about four weeks ago, and they say, “You know, they trying to come 

and build and not, you know, give no jobs, and take your money.”  So I was like, “What?”  I say, 

“Okay.”  If I didn't have a GED (General Education Diploma), could I get a job?  If I didn't 

have a high school diploma, if I didn't have a master degree, can I get a job?  Because I need a 

job, my family need a job.  So if these jobs can hire without asking me for all of this and let me 

work and see what I could do, you know, to get paid, and I would ask for $14.75 an hour, every 

week paid, not every two weeks, because if I can get $9 an hour, I can't pay light, water and gas 

or light, water and phone, food.  Some of us don't have stamps no more, you know.  My son have 

a business.  I work for him.  I don't get paid much, because I know he need to have a living, too.  

I'm in HUD (Housing and Urban Development).  So my living is not good either, but I'm there.  

But the only thing I'm saying is don't let this building get built without us and our community, my 

sisters and brothers having a job, or have to go and check our background.  Everybody have 

background, everybody steal, everybody, you know, need some money, you know.  

Unidentified Speaker:  Everybody don't steal.

Ms. Jackson:  Yeah, everybody steal.

Chair Hardemon:  Decorum, please, decorum, decorum.

Ms. Jackson:  So all I'm trying to say is --

Chair Hardemon:  Please, decorum, please.

Ms. Jackson:  -- I have stole and I'm a Christian, okay?

Chair Hardemon:  Yes, ma'am.

Ms. Jackson:  Even if it's a bubblegum.  Anyway, so what I'm saying is, please give us jobs in 

Overtown.  Don't let this people come in and build without us knowing.  Don't let them keep 

taking from us and never give back.  You know, like the lady said, she's 77 years old, and, you 

know, her -- she could have more babies and all that kind of stuff and I could, too, but let us get 

something out of something without getting nothing, you know.  Let us -- you know, we need a 

job, because if you can come and live in Overtown and these apartments that's molded out -- 

some of the people won't even speak up, and the landlord is taking advantage of people, taking 

their money and not fixing the places up.  That's just like the building come and taking their -- 

our money and not giving us a job.  You know what I mean?  So that's all I have to say.  Thank 

you and have a blessed day.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.
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Mr. Hannon:  The next three speakers:  Lyllette Noguera, Matthew Land, Rappsodi Ali.

Matthew Land:  Good evening, Mr. Chairman and Commissioners.  Matthew Land, political 

director for the Southeast Laborers District Council.  I wanted to speak very briefly to the wages 

that are outlined in this agreement before you.  While I understand a lot of negotiations have 

occurred between the CRA and the developer, the wage structure outlined in this agreement 

creates an unfair treatment for the construction workforce by establishing two sets of wages.  If 

we were to apply the County Responsible Wage Ordinance rates to this project, this should be 

done uniformly and for all construction trades.  This agreement sets in place an unlevel playing 

field for the residents while setting a dangerous precedent for future agreements that could be 

coming before this Board.  While taxpayers are paying upwards of $150 million through this 

agreement to fund infrastructure and public works projects, this is the wrong message that we're 

sending to the recipients or to the residents who are eager to find good paying jobs out of this 

project.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  Next three speakers:  Shelly Fano, Derrick [sic] Rolle and Elizabeth George.

Rappsodi Ali:  Good evening, Commissioners, and all the political constituents and all those who 

took the time to come out this evening.  My name is Rappsodi Ali.  I'm a Vietnam veteran, 

entrepreneur coming up in this community, and I'd like to say that there's a lot of work that has 

to be done.  I'm quite sure that those who are in position to help us as the CRA and 

Commissioners, they're trying to do the best, they're giving it all they can.  I think that we need to 

come together as a community and let's work together hand in hand.  You know, I mean, it's a 

trickle down effect, but I mean, if we work together, I'm quite sure that we can get this job 

completed, because there is a great task that has to be done.  In fact, I'm one of the entrepreneurs 

for Our Bucks.  We're the only black-owned and operated coffee franchise in the United States 

right at this moment as I'm speaking, so I know there's a lot that we're doing right now that's 

creating history; fact, we're making history and I'd like for everyone to understand the effect that 

we have on each other.  Let's stop the fight, and let's get in flight, and let's do the right, what we 

need to get done, and I thank you all.  Have a good evening.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Hannon:  Shelly Fano, Derrick [sic] Rolle, Elizabeth George.  Melissa Ross, Vincent 

Beasley.  Mr. Knowles?

Chair Hardemon:  You're recognized, sir.

Denrick Rolle:  Good evening.  My name is Denrick Rolle.  I am the rector of Saint Agnes 

Episcopal Church, Miami, 1750 Northwest 3rd Avenue.  I've had the privilege of meeting with 

Nitin Motwani.  I hope I have that pronounced correctly.  And while I understand that there are a 

lot of details involved in the process, what it brought to mind is an old saying that “If you teach 

someone to fish, you can feed them for a lifetime, rather than giving them a fish for a day, and 

for a day alone.”  I would like to add to that by saying:  “While I'm learning to fish, feed me so 

that I don't starve to death before that learning takes place.”  With that being said, he's 

mentioned to me on a number of occasions his interest in assisting persons, small businesses and 

persons from the workforce in the immediate area of Overtown initially or primarily, and that, I 

find encouraging.  From there, we've sought to bring together some churches and persons in the 

community who are considered pillars of the community to find ways by which we could facilitate 

getting the workforce and small businesses involved in this.  My primary focus here would be 

jobs, because I believe that is the process by which we could cause persons to feel as though 

they're human beings, and I have the utmost confidence in you, having been elected to this office, 

to work out the details in the best interest to the general public.  I support this initiative and I 

expect that from both sides there will be fairness, and there will be some means by which all 

persons can benefit well.  Thank you very much.
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Mr. Hannon:  Next three speakers:  Emmanuel Washington, Carlos Carrillo and Nathan 

Kurland.

Eric Knowles:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and Commissioners.  My name is Eric Knowles.  

I am the president of the Miami-Dade Chamber of Commerce, 100 South Biscayne Boulevard.  

I've come to speak tonight, actually growing up, spent many weekends in Overtown.  Didn't grow 

up -- live in Overtown, but saw a few movies; a movie called “Super Fly” and a movie called 

“Shaft” at the Capital.  So I'm here at this point.  I've had the opportunity to speak to Mr. 

Mitwani [sic], and one thing that I know that they are doing right now, they're working with 

Mayor Gimenez on Miami -- Employ Miami-Dade.  The importance of training, the importance 

of not only training and hiring folks who live in the area codes or the zip codes of Overtown , as 

well as working towards hiring contractors, subcontractors in this project is a discussion that we 

have had and is very important as we move forward in this initiative, so I'm saying tonight that 

the Miami-Dade Chamber is working with Mr. Mitwani [sic] to ensure that minorities and black 

construction companies are included in this process.  We will hold his feet to the fire in this 

process.  We're not just here to give praise in this process.  We are here to say that we want to 

ensure that we are included in making sure that there are jobs; not just jobs that are here in the 

beginning of this process, but jobs through longevity after the buildings have been built; jobs 

through the actual hiring when the -- as I said -- buildings and the construction is over.  So we 

support that.  I want to thank you.

Emmanuel Washington:  Good evening, Chairman, members of the Board, members of the 

audience.  My name is Emmanuel Washington.  I own a business at 1490 Northwest 3rd Avenue, 

Suite 110.  I'm the CEO (Chief Executive Officer) and chairman of the Community Work Training 

Program.  I provide job placement services for individuals in the community.  I'm a retired Fire 

lieutenant from the City of Miami.  I put 26 years in with the City of Miami.  I'm the executive 

director of the Overtown Community Optimist Club, which -- done pretty much for the last 30 

years.  My mom 57 years ago brought me home about 500 feet away from the property that 

you're going to put the Miami Center.  The -- my stake in this is really very emotional and it's -- 

and I think it's a long time coming, because when I sit back and look at all the years I 

matriculated through this community and the things that I 've done and the efforts that I made, I 

realize that this is a long time coming, and I think everybody, both -- people on both sides of the 

street are in total agreement of this coming and this happening.  We know that this is going to 

make a mark in this community that's going to be here for history.  I mean, you four plus your 

missing colleague is going to have an opportunity to make an impression on your vote that 's 

going to change the face of what happened -- has happened in our community.  This property is 

the last -- largest project that's ever going to hit and make a change in our community.  And as I 

come tonight, I just want to let you know that I'm in full support of this project.  I know that a lot 

of money is going to be spent, a lot of details, and you guys, we have elected you as our 

spokespersons, our representative for this community, and I take my hats off to you, because you 

sit in a place that, you know, it takes a lot of effort, it takes a lot of work.  You're away from your 

families.  We appreciate it.  And the decision that you're going to make about this project is going 

to be your mark on this community for your history and your legacy.  So tonight I'm here just to 

say that I support the project; I support it a hundred percent.  I think that we need to take a 

closer detailed look.  I got a chance tonight to look in the book at the supporting documentation, 

and as I wrap it up, I just want to say that I think that a little bit more detail or a little look at 

different areas need to be -- take a look at.  And you're heard the echo.  I don't want to echo and 

repeat some of the things I've heard, but I think you deserve an opportunity to take a closer look 

at those details when it come down to hiring and all those other things.  Thank you very much.

Carlos Carrillo:  Good evening.  My name is Carlos Carrillo.  I'm here on behalf of Associated 

Builders and Contractors and the ABC Institute.  Our training center is located at 2890 

Northwest 79th Avenue.  But more importantly, I am a resident of District 5, as well.  So I was 

going to speak a lot of fluff, but I decided to change course.  Let's talk about wage requirements.  
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Saying that they will ensure a local workforce is ridiculous.  The only people who benefit are 

special interest groups who essentially are going to tax those wages.  It's called “paying dues,” 

okay?  Furthermore, those being paid the higher than market wages will be the first ones to lose 

their jobs once this project is over.  Working with industry to ensure that local folks are not only 

receiving a job, but receiving an education and certifications along with that job is the way to 

ensure that they have a career; more than just a job.  That is the key to ensuring that those folks 

on that job walk away with more than just employment for a year, okay?  ABC Institute is also 

part of the Employ Miami-Dade Project, and let me tell you about something that has actually 

worked.  Through Employ Miami-Dade and our work with a local community group and some 

very, very good people that are part of this community, of the Overtown and Liberty City 

community, we were able to get 25 kids from the area into a program.  The Circle of Brotherhood 

ensured that those kids got work readiness training; those kids were -- that was paid for by the 

Circle of Brotherhood, not any other entity.  They pulled out of their pocket to get that done.  

ABC Institute then pulled out of their pocket to get those kids into a workforce training program.  

We had 98 percent graduation -- excuse me -- 96 percent graduation; 86 percent of those kids 

have an OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration) 10 card, and come next month, 

they're going to be getting their job interviews and hopefully, we'll have a hundred percent of 

them employed.  Thank you very much.  Let's get this project done, and let's get these folks to 

work.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  Next three speakers:  Kim Smith, Gihan Perera and Renita Holmes.

 

Gihan Perera:  Good evening, Commissioners.  My name is Gihan Perera.  I'm executive 

director of the Florida New Majority and acting director of Miami Workers Center.  I came here 

this evening to serenely and calmly ask for you to defer this vote for all the reasons that the 

members in the community have given.  As I sat here this evening, I got increasingly angry 

because when I hear Overtown referred to as the “hole in the doughnut,” when I hear the area 

that we're talking about is Overtown and it's historic significance, and the people live there 

described as “blight that needs to be invested in, that needs to be changed,” it actually angers 

me, because everyone here and everyone in the world knows that that area is actually a diamond 

mine; not a gold mine, but a diamond mine that is not begging for investment, but where 

investors are begging to get into because of the rent gap, and the potential profit there is higher 

than probably anyplace else in the world if not the country.  So to hear that we are begging or 

needing investment versus that this is an opportunity for investment; to hear that this has to be 

rushed in the final hour; to see who -- those who've come up and know that they will benefit from 

this, and there will be billions made, and there will be fine restaurants, and there will be lots of 

jobs, but for who?  And I know, and you know, and those of us who've been here time and time 

again for developments in Miami know that promises are made, and made, and made, and you 

can ask people in every community where those promises are made where the jobs, growth and 

prosperity is.  And if it has not been on paper and it does not have teeth, and if the jobs over the 

long term are not guaranteed and in writing, like in any other business, it is as good as the air 

that they are spoken on.  And if tonight the chief tenant of this development -- the chief tenant, 

sitting here in front isn't clear, if they who are going to host the most jobs aren't clear, how can 

we be confident?  Take the time, Commissioners, to do this right.  Investors have billions of 

chances.  This is Overtown's last one.  Take the time so that the community can hear this.  Take 

the time to put the teeth and the agreements in this.  Get the “T's” and “I's” right, because this 

time, we don't have another chance for Overtown; this is it.  Please defer this vote.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  

Mr. Hannon:  Kim Smith, Renita Holmes, Ted Weitzel, Timothy Wilcox.  

Kim Smith:  Hi.  I'm Kim Smith.  I am a graduated student of one of the programs you support 
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with the Miami-Dade Culinary Institute through the hospitality industry.  The program I think is 

very benefiting.  Actually, it has the potential to be very benefiting if lots of things are changed 

about it.  It's -- I mean, we're there.  They -- we get the training that they say they do.  They say 

that we will have jobs, but out of the whole class that I came out of, only one student was hired, 

and I think it was on her own doing.  We didn't get recommendations, we didn't get referrals.  We 

got nothing.  We just got the training.  It's just like having another certificate.  And this program 

is supposed to be training job readiness plan and when we're done, we should have a better 

opportunity at getting jobs.  Well, it's not working.  And there's a lot to be said for the program 

because we do get grade “A” training.  We get everything we need to get out there to work, but 

at the end, we are certified.  We don't have an associate's degree.  We don't have a bachelor's 

degree.  We don't have a master's.  We have a certification.  So we need the program to work 

better as opposed to just saying, “Well, we're going to find you jobs and you're going to have 

jobs and when you get out of this program, it's going to work,” or “this program does this.”  

Yes, you're there.  A lot of people lost the program because they didn't have funding to get back 

and forth to school.  I don't know where the funds are going, but we didn't get them, and it was a 

big mess.  I mean, I think the program really needs to be looked into by the CRA to see where the 

money's going, how it's being spent and who's benefiting from it, because the students most 

certainly aren't.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much for your comments, ma'am.  Ms. Kim, can you come 

here one second?  Can you make sure you see this gentleman over to the right?  Come, please.  I 

want to make sure that he gets those concerns so we can address your concerns, okay?  Thank 

you very much.  You're recognized.

Renita Holmes:  Thank you for the commendation.  Madam Holmes again, the Women's 

Association.  But, you know, I don't need “association” or “corporation” behind me to speak as 

a resident, citizen and taxpayer of Overtown.  I'm glad you did this, Commissioner, because this 

was the big project.  This is the one that's described by comprehensive master plan that requires 

certain amount of notices, and procedures and charettes to occur.  So as my thought process 

occurs on this one -- it's 80-something pages long.  What citizen, or woman out here, or young 

man trying to monitor a major program can deal with that?  For the record, is that fair?  I'm 

here in a public hearing and you're going to vote on something 87 pages long, and I'm supposed 

to do the same, and I don't have that accurate time.  So when we talk about fairness, that's one of 

the components in making a decision for us.  When we look at the history of people making 

decisions about accepting proposals versus projects, bona fide, experienced, certified, like I did 

when I was a resident in public housing, living on 700 and something dollars a month, and 

starting a not-for-profit and a for-profit, thank you.  What happened was I talked too much about 

this question, which I give to the legal attorneys.  And we have four of you that are attorneys 

there, and I think that's wonderful, so we should be able to comprehend “repsi ipsi” [sic]  

loquitur,” “carpe diem” and “caveat emptor.”  Those fairness and those components have not 

been descriptive of some of the questions and the lack of answers of some great people here, 

although they're not attorneys, request and legally are required for you to give an answer, and I 

know that you will; you always do.  But there are a lot of questions that make me wonder how I 

could do this.  Then came the question about federal.  Is federally-funded land which has its 

guidelines about what should be done, who should have been included, who should be a priority, 

Section III, which, by the way, I took reps ipsi [sic] loquitur, carpe diem and all of that, and filed 

that federal suit, and it came that we did some remediation.  But what it was, the money was 

given away to others.  Now, I know that women are required -- if I may close, Commissioner -- 

but here are some questions:  Is federally-funded land still under Federal guidelines when it 

comes to whether or not it's State monies attached?  To the Attorney and to the local attorneys, 

and I hardly ever ask questions I haven't sought the answer to; thus, the lawsuit.  Second, if we 

have a comprehensive master plan, aren't we required to have certain charettes?  But lastly, 

again, is this a proposal or is this a project?  And so if that's so, don't I have the same right as a 

former resident who's already got my job, got employed, live here, taxpayer, ask, sought legal 

defense, took legal action about this same legal question before we go over having the right due 
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process and due diligence of law?  I'll leave you with those questions.  I'll leave this with Todd as 

the Clerk, and I'd like to ask you, as attorneys, lawyers and leaders, would it be best that we 

consider the litigation cost if this happens again?  I believe it can be done, and if I did it in 

public housing without the coopera -- Look, I'm going to close with this:  My two cents, you 

know, I'm an investor.  My two chains, I'm two-chain.  I'm different.  Thank you very much.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  You're recognized, sir.

Ted Weitzel:  Okay.  Ted Weitzel, Poinciana Village, 201 Northwest 7th Street, Miami.  From a 

practical manner, let me just mention something.  I've been in Overtown for -- since 1980 -- 34 

years, and I came to Overtown and bought a number of properties, were in bad condition, and 

the idea was to rehab them, which I did.  So over the years, I rehabbed like 742 apartment 

building -- apartments.  And the point I'm making is that I always hired local people, because it 

was better to hire local people for the fact that they weren't late to work; they didn't have the 

problem with transportation; they were available when you needed them, especially in 

emergencies.  If there's a problem and you work on a Saturday or something, you knew where 

they lived.  I think from a practical standpoint, the Worldcenter will hire local people whenever 

they can.  Whenever they're available, they will hire them; it's just easier than trying to hire 

people from outlying areas that have to be transported in.  And with traffic in Miami the way it 

is, they're late for work.  So I think from a practical manner, and I've had experience with it, they 

will hire local people whenever possible.  Again, I'm Poinciana Village, and I'm very critically 

involved in this, because, contrary to what some people said here, that it's easy to get financing 

in this area, it is not easy to get financing in this area.  I mean, I'm working on getting financing, 

and I have tentative commitments for financing, but they're all conditioned upon All Aboard 

starting, which is -- looks like it's happening now -- and Marriott Hotel starting, and 

Worldcenter.  If these three projects start, I can build my project.  If these projects don't start and 

any delays which we've been having have been causing me problems, because the minute the 

lenders see delays, they get nervous.  So, please, move this issue.  Vote on it, approve it today so 

they can get going, I can get going and other projects that are waiting can get going, as well.  

Vice Chair Gort:  Ted, when was the first time you built; what year?

Mr. Weitzel:  1980.  Oh, I started building in Poinciana you mean?  

Vice Chair Gort:  Yeah.

Mr. Weitzel:  1986.

Vice Chair Gort:  Thank you.

Mr. Weitzel:  Mm-hmm.

Mr. Hannon:  Timothy Wilcox, Charles Haynes, Grady Muhammad, Gregg Covin.

Charles Haynes:  Good evening.  My name is Charles Haynes.  I live 219 Northwest 14th 

Terrace.  I been a resident of Overtown 52 years.  This is my fifth meeting supporting the Miami 

Worldcenter.  I give Mr. Nitin 200 citizen name, address and phone number, people from my 

neighborhood.  And I just had a tragedy Christmas.  Three of these young guys who signed up to 

support the Worldcenter, they not here -- some of them not here.  And I'm saying delay ain't 

helping us.  We need to get with this so I get them kids off the street.  Thank you.

Grady Muhammad:  Good evening.  I think -- Grady Muhammad.  I'm looking at the incentive.  

I've read the agreement, 85 pages and more, but the problem is the incentives.  The incentives 

start in 2018.  The penalties start in 2024, 2027.  They would have collected $45 million if they 

get the full 75 percent of that, $10 million, the various things.  The penalties are there.  Trust, we 
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going to do.  Reagan say “verify”; we must.  Who's going to monitor it?  2021, 2024, all of you 

all will be gone.  The community still going to be here.  Based on -- according to the date, we're 

going to be building a parking garage.  We're not going to get no revenue from those things.  We 

should be building the infrastructure, and it should be on a -- similar to Miami-Dade County -- a 

reimbursable basis.  And the job creations has to be met.  We got to ensure your people get these 

jobs.  The shopping center was a failure.  We didn't get no jobs.  Demolition, 12 Hispanics came 

to do demolition.  You got a Overtown -- through Neighbors and Neighbors, right down the -- we 

should have had a cease and desist order.  We own it, we financed it.  We should have ensured 

the residents got jobs; they didn't.  These projects we don't own, we don't control.  How are we 

going to ensure we get these jobs?  How are we going to ensure they get the living wage?  We're 

giving the incentives.  We don't have a problem giving to incentives.  The developers going to be 

required to report.  Get on -- let me just read it.  The developers are required to give this to the 

CRA.  There won't be no independent verification on reporting.  For employees and everything, 

the developer shall also provide such reports for all full-time employees and part-time employees 

it employs.  These reports will be coordinated and conducted by the developer to the CRA.  The 

CRA doesn't have -- it has qualified staff, wonderful staff, but not to be able to independently 

verify these things.  We have a project in the City of Miami, it's called Parrot Jungle, $25 million, 

Section 108.  Where's the jobs?  They're not there, not for the residents.  And that money 

supposed to came -- not supposed to came -- the jobs supposed to came directly from Overtown.  

The residents didn't get anything.  In conclusion, again, verification, who's going to verify these 

numbers?  We know the incentives going to be going to the developer.  Who's going to be 

monitoring the agreement?  Who's going to ensure the jobs are there?  Who's going to ensure the 

contractors are there?  CRA has a wonderful staff, and especially a great executive director, but 

there's nobody to verify, to monitor, to ensure compliance.  When we talking jobs, they come 

from companies, individuals, corporations, firms; they don't come up out of the sky.  And unless 

we own companies, corporations, the individuals, your people not going to get them, because if 

you don't have something in there says -- arrest is not a conviction -- because you dealing with 

felons in Overtown, felons in that whole district or your whole high zip code -- you know -- 

high-poverty zip codes.  We're dealing with those things.  And at the end, only thing I'm asking 

again for final, who's going to ensure your residents get these jobs, the contractors get these?  

That's the only question I really, really, have, because at the end, we want to verify --

Chair Hardemon:  Mr. Muhammad, Mr. Muhammad --

Mr. Muhammad:  Go ahead, Mr. Chair.  I'll listen.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Muhammad:  Thank you all.

Mr. Hannon:  Gregg Covin, Louis Birdman, Talmadse [sic] Frazier.

Gregg Covin:  Hi.  My name is Gregg Covin.  I was born -- I'm from Miami.  I was born in 

Cedars, by Jackson.  My mother taught at Phyllis Wheatley Elementary.  So I think you guys 

should listen to what I'm saying, because I believe I'm actually the first person to ever pour 

millions and millions of dollars into Park West.  Back in 2003, I -- you know, it was all parking 

lots owned by Quick Park, and I went to see the Quick Park guy to try to buy the old pink 

Howard Johnson's, and he wouldn't sell me that, but he sold me the parking lot next door, and I 

built 10 Museum Park, which is the first tower in Park West.  And at the time, people told me I 

was crazy.  They were like, “Gregg, you're crazy.  You're going to build a tower in Park West?  

You'll never sell apartments there.  It's all crack heads down there.  You're crazy.”  I didn't listen 

to them and what I -- you know, I made my career in real estate on South Beach, and I wanted to 

see some of the prosperity that I saw happen on South Beach come over to downtown.  So we 

rented Bicentennial Park and we threw a big party, and in nine days, we sold out all the condos 

in 10 Museum Park, and I built the building.  And then that prosperity spread with the other 
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three buildings that got built, so now there's four big towers.  Now we have Museum Park with 

these world class museums that are just getting finished.  And last month, I knocked down the BP 

(British Petroleum) Gas Station.  I just finished knocking down the BP Gas Station.  I'm building 

a new tower there, by Zaha Hadid, which is -- I'm bringing the most famous architect in the 

world to do a building in Park West.  The most famous architect in the world is doing a building 

in Park West.  So what I see is there's lots of opinions here, but we all want the same thing.  We 

all want prosperity in Park West/Overtown, and this is very important for the rest of your life, I'm 

telling you.  Where does prosperity come from?  Prosperity comes from a synergy of 

development.  Prosperity doesn't come from the government; it doesn't come from living wage; it 

doesn't come from hiring minority contractors.  Prosperity comes from one place.  Anywhere in 

the world, you get prosperity from a synergy of development.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much sir.

Mr. Covin:  Am I done?  Okay, I'll get off.

Vice Chair Hardemon:  Yes.

Mr. Covin:  So I'm just saying we have a once in a lifetime -- once in a generation opportunity 

with All Aboard Florida; my building; the Marriott Conventional Hotel and Miami Worldcenter 

is going to bring that prosperity west now.  Anybody speaking against Miami Worldcenter is 

hurting Overtown, period.  We want it to get built as quick as possible to have a synergy of 

development.  That is what you people want to improve your lives --

Vice Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Covin:  -- a synergy of development.  Thank you.

Mr. Hannon:  Louis Birdman, Talmadse [sic] Frazier.

Louis Birdman:  Hello.  My name is Louis Birdman.  I also represent 1000 Biscayne Boulevard, 

partners with Gregg Covin.  We're developing 1000 Museum.  We'd like to see this project move 

forward.  We'd like to see the CRA do exactly what the CRA is supposed to be doing, which is 

helping projects like this.  It doesn't serve anybody any good to have this project delayed further.  

This project's already been 12 years in the making.  We've been through one really bad economic 

downturn that's taken a lot of years for developers to come back, and you never know what 

tomorrow holds.  The longer we wait to have these things happen, have these projects move 

forward, the greater chance is that the project won't move forward, which doesn't help anybody.  

I read through this agreement because I wanted to see what was in it, and what I see is not what 

a lot of people are saying here, that the developer is being given money.  What I see is that the 

developer has obligations to lay out a great deal of money with the promise of getting that money 

back through the TIF after it meets certain obligations.  There's safeguards in these agreements.  

There's things that the developer is obligated to do, and if the developer does what the developer 

promises to do, then they'll get that money back after they spend that money on their own.  

They're not being given money.  Money is not being taken away from anybody.  I think that this is 

a project that should move forward and should get the support of the CRA.

Talmadge Frazier:  Good evening.  My name is Talmadge Frazier.  I live at 201 Northwest 7th 

Street.  I also taught in Overtown for 13.5 years.  I also own a business in Overtown called 

Father Frazier's Ribs.  For many years and many months, Commissioner, before you, I've 

watched them come here and ask for jobs, jobs, jobs.  But you cannot, Commissioner, as good as 

you want to be, and Clarence, as good as you and your staff are, you're not genies.  You cannot 

pull AAs (Associate of Arts), BSs (Bachelor of Science) and masters where there's none.  You 

cannot build a community where only three percent of your people go to college.  You cannot 

build a community where only 64 percent have high school diplomas.  You got to come out the 
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myth.  You cannot ask somebody to pay your $14, $15 an hour and you have no skills.  If you 

want the skilled jobs that these buildings will bring, that these companies will bring, you got to 

go to Lindsey Hopkins down the street.  They talk about our community.  Commissioner, you're 

new, but I want you to do something for me.  If you would please go to Lindsey Hopkins and 

stand there in the mornings, and see how many people from Overtown is involved -- enrolled at 

Lindsey Hopkins.  Then go to Miami-Dade downtown campus.  And I says this not just to 

Commissioner, not to Clarence.  I'm going to turn my back to the people who I live with over 

here.  If you want good jobs, get a good education.  They're not going to give you -- I didn't say 

“everybody.”  Sir -- ma'am, one person with a bachelor's degree cannot build a community.  It 

takes a consensus.  We have got to stop coming down to these people, fussing at them about jobs 

that we don't have the skills to get.  I used to be one of those.  Ma'am, you can't -- ma'am, like 

you already said, I -- how I'm feeling this.  But if you don't understand me now in my time, I'm 

not telling you this tonight.  I echoed this 20 years ago when I was a teacher at Douglas 

Elementary.  I told you this was coming.  You chose not to listen.  Now you want to go and get 

jobs, carpenters, electricians and plumbers.  Where are you?  These people are going to build 

buildings.  They can't build buildings and promises to give you bigger jobs and no education , no 

skills.  And, yes, all of you got mad at me when I said, “If you want to work for Father Frazier, if 

you not willing to go back to school, I have no job for you.”  I will not -- as my minister said, I'm 

going to teach you to fish.  You got the opportunity to work for me till you get the ability to fish 

for yourself.  But don't come back begging these people no more.

Chair Hardemon:  Can you please come back to a conclusion for me?

Mr. Frazier:  Yes, sir, I'll come back, Commissioner.  Please forgive me.  I'm sorry.  But 

Commissioner, they come to you with all this.  It's time they heard the truth.  You have done and 

Clarence and his staff have done a fantastic job for this community.  But this community cannot 

grow until the people understand that they are the catalyst.  Without that engine of education, 

without engine of ability, this community will do what it always have done:  come here, cry about 

you and walk back out there, and want to make $25 an hour for folding sheets.  It ain't going to 

happen.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, sir.  I thank you for your time.

Mr. Frazier:  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Hannon:  Next three speakers:  Penny Taylor, Kendesi Muhammad, Chris Hodgkins.

Kendesi Muhammad:  Good evening.  My name is Kendesi Muhammad.  I'm a resident of 

Overtown.

Chair Hardemon:  Decorum, please.

Mr. Muhammad:  I work in the hospitality industry, and work in the hospitality industry in some 

of the biggest hotels in South Beach.  You have to work in that industry to really understand it.  I 

do banquets.  You don't need too much experience to move tables and set up spoons, nor do you 

need too much experience to serve, which brings me to my point here in Overtown.  There are 

people looking for jobs and the opportunity, and we need accountability.  We need -- if it's being 

said that certain amount of jobs will go to the residents here, Commissioner -- Commissioners, 

CRA executive, we need accountability.  If you say something, we will hold you to it.  And I'm 

extremely proud of everyone who showed up here tonight, because it's been a lonely experience 

these past few weeks, I mean, or months where we show up and there's only a few people here.  

We need to see more people who love their community, who are concerned, who want to see it 

expand, who want to see growth, and I think all of us have to really sit down and talk, and really 

say, “Look, this is what's in it for you.”  And it's not about a “who been here” and “who 

couldn't make it work,” but it's about really people who believe, people who have the strength to 
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make it work, because they believe it could work.  They believe in people.  I believe in 

development.  I believe in growth.  America's growing, Miami's growing.  Overtown used to be -- 

expanded all the way to Bayfront as -- according to my studies.  It's reducing, and I come to 

these meetings because I want to see growth, and I think we need to start the conversation, a real 

conversation about how we all could sit down and make it work --

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much, Mr. Muhammad.

Mr. Muhammad:  -- because we believe.

Chris Hodgkins:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Chris Hodgkins, 1717 North Bayshore.  

I'm the chief executive office of the Miami Access Tunnel.  And I think just listening here tonight, 

we know that good things don't just happen; they don't just fall out of the sky; they don't just pop 

up and it happens.  We know that good things happen through leadership and initiative , and I've 

watched this World Miami.  I've watched what's been happening on and I want to thank you, Mr. 

Chairman, for your action in making sure that those aspects that we have in there now, local 

hire, responsible wages and making sure that people have the hope for opportunity is there , and I 

want to thank Mr. Motwani for taking the time to meet with people in the community.  And, you 

know, we had a -- we heard a lot of things tonight.  We heard that Miami's on fire.  We heard the 

economics of prosperity, and wages don't matter, and local hire doesn't matter.  That's bunk; it 

matters big time.  If Miami's on fire, we need to make sure that we enkindle that fire with hope for 

opportunity so all can have prosperity.  You want to address the economics?  Give people a good 

wage.  And I want to thank you and the members of this CRA for doing just that with this 

proposal.  You know, I started a program called Operation 3-0-5.  We hired local people.  We 

hired 83 percent local.  We worked with your NET (Neighborhood Enhancement Team) Office.  

We worked with Booker T.  We worked with people here.  We had a job fair at Folklife Fridays; 

our biggest one.  We had a job fair at Duarte Park.  We did these things because community 

matters.  And like somebody said, you can't just rely on somebody's good faith.  I'm here to tell 

you that's what you need the best of -- good faith.  And I think this is a good beginning.  I thank 

you for your leadership.  I think it's the way to go.  This right now is the toughest and most 

succinct piece and comprehensive part of local hire and fair wages of any CRA we've seen yet.  I 

know, Commissioner Sarnoff, when we did the tunnel, we had 50 million in there.  I know that 

this Commission said, “We want you to pay attention to the community.”  You didn't spell that 

out with legal words and legislation.  You said, “do it,” and we made a commitment to do it.  So 

that good faith, as willy-nilly as some might think doesn't matter, it really does.  And I think with 

you and your leadership in putting this forward and going one step further and talking about 

bringing responsible wages in front of the Commission on the 22nd is a great deal.  You know, 

we all started off at the bottom.  We all washed dishes, you know; we all waited on tables.  We 

did these things to get where we are today, but we did them by working hard, and you worked 

hard because there was hope for opportunity, and that hope for opportunity has to come with 

good wages.  So I thank you for what you've done with this.  I thank Mr. Motwani for including 

people.  And you know what?  This is just the beginning.  This is just the beginning; it will only 

get better.  And I thank you for your leadership, and I wholeheartedly support this resolution.  

Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Hannon:  The last four speakers I have signed up for item number 12 are Terry Murphy, 

Lillian Slater, Javier Fernandez and Nitin Motwani.

Terry Murphy:  I'll gladly jump in front of Nitin Motwani.  Terry Murphy.  I'm here this evening -- 

I stand before you as a friend of the electrical workers and an associate of Local 349.  As a guy 

who did a lot of construction work when I was going through college and as a citizen of South 

Florida who's greatly disturbed by the violence we're seeing on our streets, I wanted to speak in 

support of the elements of this agreement that secure an enhanced living wage for laborers and 
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provide a responsible wage for electrical workers.  Though it would be preferable to have a 

responsible wage for all the building trades in this agreement, the results of these negotiations 

between public officials and private developers seems to be at a good start.  Next month, 

hopefully, we'll consider a formal responsible wage policy for the City of Miami, and I look 

forward to that hearing.  I want to commend Commissioner Hardemon for the good work he's 

done on behalf of the future workers on this project.  Because of his commitment we will get to 

see the benefits of sound public policy that would ultimately make this a better project.  Better 

pay attracts better workers and better workers produce better projects.  Commissioner 

Hardemon knows that wages are only one factor when calculating the cost of workforce, of the 

workforce on a project.  Every worker comes with their own skillsets, knowledge of the trade, 

their prior experience and their work ethics.  Anyone who thinks construction workers are 

interchangeable widgets has never worked on a work crew or never managed a crew.  The 

accountants in the home office -- and I'm saying this about this responsible wage issue -- never 

consider the savings associated with having responsible, well trained employees on the jobsite.  

The accountants are not intentionally misleading anyone when they assert that higher wages will 

increase the project cost by “X” dollars.  They're simply looking at hours and wages.  Is that 

already two minutes?  Wow.  Sorry.  That went quick.  I guess a big “thank you” to 

Commissioner Hardemon.  

Chair Hardemon:  Keep it moving forward.

Mr. Murphy:  I'm sorry I talk long.  But anyway, I did want to say that on Channel 10 this 

weekend, the Sunday show, when they did the roundtable, talking about the violence in this 

community that we're dealing with now.  There's another meeting going on tonight I know at 

another location where they're talking about solutions.  I really do believe that tonight in this 

agreement, when you start talking about wage policies where people can start a job, where they 

can make enough money to pay their rent and put food on the table, and know the dignity of hard 

work and the respect that comes from doing hard work and getting a nice paycheck, that's a real 

alternative for a lot of people that they just don't know right now, and I think this is a huge step 

when you start talking about putting in wage policies to lift up the community.  And I know it's 

not comprehensive.  It doesn't address all the issues we'd like to see, but tonight, it's a really 

good negotiated first start, and I look forward to being at your hearing in January, and wish all 

of you a Happy New Year.  Thank you.

Chair Hardemon:  Now, Ms. Slater, before you talk, I want to tell you something, Ms. Slater.  

There was a time where you came before the CRA Board, and it was when I first started, and you 

were yelling at Mr. Woods.  You told Mr. Woods, “Don't come to us anymore unless you have the 

money.”

Lillian Slater:  That's what I said.

Chair Hardemon:  “If you don't have the money, we don't want to hear no more red tape, we 

don't want to hear no more talk” --

Ms. Slater:  I don't want to hear nothing.

Chair Hardemon:  -- “we don't want to hear nothing.”  You know we got that money for Town 

Park.

Ms. Slater:  Well, I haven't seen it yet.

Chair Hardemon:  You didn't come to the groundbreaking.

Ms. Slater:  Commissioner Gort --
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Chair Hardemon:  Listen, Ms. Slater --

Ms. Slater:  -- I'm holding you -- 

Chair Hardemon:  -- Ms. Slater --

Ms. Slater:  -- Commissioner Gort -- don't let me come to City Hall, because I been there ever 

since it's built, okay?  

Chair Hardemon:  Yes, ma'am.

Ms. Slater:  I know all the Commissioners been through there.  And you know who built Miami.

Chair Hardemon:  Bahamians.

Ms. Slater:  I guess you know.  The Bahamians, they the one docked down Coconut Grove, and 

this is why we are here.  A lot of people say different people built Miami, but you know it's a lie; 

they didn't.  I heard all the things they saying here about the Worldcenter and whatever.  I -- you 

know, it's good.  But I know when the CRA was made -- Woods know just like I know -- there's 

McKnight, Jackie Bell, Ms. Acker is gone on.  We all be down to City Hall, and Ms. Acker meant 

business.  She had Overtown where we is today.  And what I'm saying, I want my money and I 

want it right away, Woods.

Mr. Woods:  Yes, ma'am, Ms. Slater.

Ms. Slater:  Commissioner Sarnoff, Commissioner Gort been here for many years.  I know that.  I 

know everybody went through (UNINTELLIGIBLE) City Hall and I don't want to get hurt.  You 

know that.

Chair Hardemon:  We could never get angry with you, Ms. Slater.

Ms. Slater:  And our Commissioner -- I haven't been down -- I been through there.  I haven't 

stopped because I didn't want to make a mess.  I just stay away, you know.  But Woods, I'm 

looking very soon, because things are happening over to the north, and all these years, I been 

running to City Hall, and Town Park hasn't got a dime.

Chair Hardemon:  Now, we just said that we gave Town Park that money.

Ms. Slater:  Yes.  Hasn't got a dime.

Chair Hardemon:  I'm going to come knock on your door and we'll sit down together --

Ms. Slater:  Commissioner Gort, you know.  

Chair Hardemon:  -- and talk about it.

Ms. Slater:  Sarnoff, you know.  All of us know.  We was supposed to had our money first.

Mr. Woods:  I'm going to come and see you, Ms. Slater.

Chair Hardemon:  We got it first.

Ms. Slater:  No, we didn't get it first.

Chair Hardemon:  All right.
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Ms. Slater:  The north got they money.  Oh, no, I know what's happening, but I just didn't want to 

make a mess in there.

Chair Hardemon:  Yes, ma'am. 

Mr. Woods:  I'm going to come and see you, Ms. Slater.

Ms. Slater:  Okay, you better hurry.

Chair Hardemon:  All right, I'll be there.

Ms. Slater:  Okay.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.

Ms. Slater:  Thank you, baby.

Chair Hardemon:  Okay.  Somebody please turn the lights down.

Nitin Motwani:  Mr. Chair, members of the Board, I simply want to tell you I stand before you 

honored and humbled by your time and energy.  This project has been before you a number of 

times over the past year, but this particular hearing, this meeting, as members of the CRA Board, 

I think talks a lot about the transformation that is hopefully happening now in our collective 

community of Park West/Overtown.  I've been working with Mr. Woods and the CRA for over 

eight years as we've gone through the cycles in this area, and we sit before you in a very unique 

situation where we have had tremendous opportunities to meet with incredible people of the 

community, both in Park West and in Overtown.  We have over 200 letters of support from 

Overtown residents; over 150 letters of support from condo residents and neighbors, business 

owners, many of which were here tonight.  We've heard a lot of different opinions, including on 

wages, and we were happy to be a part of -- not initially but eventually -- those conversations in 

talking about progress and future of our great City.  We appreciate the energy, we appreciate the 

time and we appreciate the intent of the CRA, which is to create transformative projects that are 

not beneficial for one, but beneficial for all, and we're honored to be here requesting this ask, 

because we think we can be the catalyst to fix this area finally so we can all benefit together in 

this incredible City that is Miami.  

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  The public hearing is now closed.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Mr. Chair.

Chair Hardemon:  You are recognized.

Board Member Sarnoff:  I'd like to make a motion to approve and then for discussion.

Board Member Suarez:  Second.

Chair Hardemon:  It's been properly moved and seconded that we approve this agreement.  

Commissioner Gort.

Vice Chair Gort:  Discussion.  I think it's a lot of talk about the CRA, and I think it's important to 

have a little history.  My understanding from the information that I received, the CRA began with 

the City of Miami in 1982.  It was really formalized in 1983, and then they could see that there 

was not enough money or any developments taking place to create the tax base that you need, 

because when you started the CRA, you have a tax base, and any additional tax beyond that base 
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is what comes to the CRA.  And then in 1985, the City of Miami wisdom, they extended the CRA, 

the Overtown CRA to Park West, and my understanding is from the information that I received, 

the first million dollar [sic] came in in 2001.  Now, I was elected in 1993 and to 2001.  And I'm 

glad to see so many people here so interested in fixing the Overtown, because they have -- 

because I remember in the '90s, I went to a lot of meetings, the CRA; I went to a lot of meetings 

here in Overtown.  It was not that many people at that time.  So I'm glad to see that we're getting 

all of you together so we can really make it happen.  And I want you to understand, the tax is 

created by the developer.  It's not a City tax.  It's an additional tax that's being created by the 

developers, and I think it's important for people to understand that.  We didn't get the first 

million dollar until 2001.  I was not in office at that time, but I remember the '90s, how much 

work we had to do to get things going, so it also -- it cannot be done overnight.  I mean, 16 

years, it took 16 years for any type of development to take place to see something happen in here.  

Thank you, that's all I want them to know.

Chair Hardemon:  And Mr. Clerk, I just want to clarify for the record --

Vice Chair Gort:  And by the way, let me tell you something.  When they came to me and they 

started telling, because I know investors, I know how they work, I told them, “Why don't you 

guys work out” -- “walk out”; that's what I told them, “put your money some other place.”

Chair Hardemon:  -- that the motion was to approve the amended version of the Miami 

Worldcenter Economic Incentive Agreement that was provided to the Commissioners today.  So 

Commissioner Sarnoff, you're recognized.

Board Member Sarnoff:  So cities are not built in linear fashion.  The City of Chicago was not 

built -- from the '20s, '30s, '40s, it had bursts, and it had great building styles, and if you've ever 

been to the river, you'll see different periods of architecture as to when those bursts occur; same 

with the City of New York; certainly, the City of St. Louis.  And somebody said something today, 

two things in Latin I thought that were worth repeating.  Carpe diem; don't know if the person 

knows what “carpe diem” means, but it means “seize the day.”  And cities need to know when to 

seize the day.  CRAs need to know when to seize the day.  Developers need to know when to seize 

the day, for those who fail to seize the day, will see 32 years of nothing happening.  There's 

another thing that was said, was “res ipso loquitur,” which means “the thing speaks for itself.”  

I am not always a supporter of Commissioner Hardemon, but I got to tell you, on this one, he 

wrote a heck of an agreement.  I heard so many stories today, I almost want to quote Ronald 

Reagan -- probably not the place to quote him, here, but he used to say, “Those who know so 

much but read so little,” because what was said today was not what's contained in this 

agreement.  This agreement, in and of itself, has a series of conditions and a series of penalties 

that aren't deferred for years and years to come.  This Board acts as an arbitration panel for 

when those thresholds are not reached.  And one thing about the United States Constitution:  It 

has certain guarantees, but one of them is not a job.  But there are opportunities.  And in this 

agreement, there are opportunities put for different tiers and levels of people who reside in 

Miami.  With one modification, Mr. Chair, I'd like to include West Grove.  I didn't know how to 

do it, because I don't intend to include -- unfortunately, West Grove resides in 33133, a very 

affluent community.  However, West Grove is not affluent, as you know.  And in the words of the 

last speaker, it happens to be the Bahamian community that very likely built much of Miami, and 

so I would merely ask that -- and I've asked -- this is from Francisco Garcia -- this be put in the 

third tier of zip codes.  And since I don't want to call it a zip code, Mr. Chair, because I don't 

intend to include the more affluent parts of the Grove, it is my intention merely to include what 

we commonly call either West Grove or Village West.

Vice Chair Hardemon:  As Chairman, I would accept that amendment.  And I would also like to 

add I received information from staff that you had another recommendation to add two other zip 

codes that were suffering from poverty within our communities of the City of Miami, and so if we 

could -- someone from the --
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Vice Chair Gort:  I'll make the motion; 33142, which is right next to 7th Avenue.

Chair Hardemon:  Okay, 33142.  And is there any other zip code that needs to be added?

Board Member Carollo:  Mr. Chairman.

Chair Hardemon:  You're recognized, sir.

Board Member Carollo:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Chair Hardemon:  Just wanted to know is there a zip code; is there any other zip code needs to 

be added?  If not, I'm going to yield the floor back to Commissioner Sarnoff; I don't believe he 

was finished.

Board Member Carollo:  Understood.  But --

Board Member Sarnoff:  I accept the (UNINTELLIGIBLE).

Board Member Carollo:  -- I see the amendment here and it deals with the zip codes.

Chair Hardemon:  That was --

Board Member Carollo:  The amendment that I just received right now.

Chair Hardemon:  That is a mistake.  That is -- that -- what is crossed out there is not correct.

Board Member Carollo:  So, okay.  So I have on the original backup that we received on page 6, 

the zip code --

Chair Hardemon:  The original backup is not -- now, I'll explain this to you.  The -- we do our 

best.  It is no fault of the community who read some of the agreements, to understand the position 

that they've been stating.  What happens is sometimes when agreements are printed, that very 

same day they're changed; the next day they're changed.  So while everyone was celebrating 

Christmas, I was making changes to this document.  So the reason I made changes to these 

documents is because I was not happy with what was presented before me or you requested a 

change; the change is not implemented.  So we make changes to these documents up until we 

vote on them.  No document is complete until we actually vote on it and approve it moving 

forward.  So with that being said, what we -- so there are some things within the document that 

are not the way that the community may have seen them, and we've made those changes in this 

document, and everything that we approve, remember, is in substantially the same attached form.  

So the little intricacies -- for instance, the zip code that -- if you look at my document where 

there's no changes; it's written but there's no change.

Board Member Carollo:  Right, right, Mr. Chairman.  But with all due respect, I mean, I 

understand that there's changes here and there, but I need to know what I'm voting on.  I need to 

know what the final copy is.

Applause

Chair Hardemon:  Decorum, please.

Board Member Carollo:  You know, and I don't mean this disrespectful to anybody, but, really, I 

mean, zip codes -- it's obviously important to all of us, and I'm having two, three different copies.  

And honestly, I'm not -- I don't know what I'm voting for, because they're all --
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Chair Hardemon:  Well, that's unfortunate.

Board Member Carollo:  -- changed.

Chair Hardemon:  Let me explain something to you, Commissioner.  

Vice Chair Gort:  Why don't you go over it.

Chair Hardemon:  No, no, and I will go over it and Mr. Commissioner, if I could, please.

Board Member Carollo:  Okay.

Chair Hardemon:  I'll start with some of the things -- first of all, this is the exact same reason -- 

I'm going to express my frustration publicly about these types of documents.  When I make a 

request to make a change to a document, I want that change made.  I don't want any other 

change.  I don't want a variance of that change.  I want the change that I spent my time going 

over to make that change for.  So when I receive a document an hour before we come to vote and 

it is not exactly the way that I requested it to be made so that we all could come here with the 

same expectations, I am very, very, very upset about that.  I do not ever want to come before a 

meeting like this again with a matter that's so important and be sidelined by information, small 

information, pieces of information that aren't substantive in the end, but that give the impression 

that this Board is not doing what it's supposed to do; it's not doing its due diligence in making 

sure these contracts are correct.  And I hope that all the high-paid attorneys that we have; I hope 

that all the high-paid staff that we have understands that from the bottom of my heart for this 

community, because this type of stuff cannot happen, because when we have a Commissioner, a 

Boardman who is absolutely correct in his position that he does not have the information in front 

of him that he thinks he's voting on -- No, there is never a time, ever -- the first thing that ever 

went into these documents were the poor zip codes.  Everyone who's been following this CRA and 

has been following our Commission know that we have -- and we've introduced poverty 

reduction guidelines, and the zip codes are a part of that.

Mr. Woods:  Absolutely.

Chair Hardemon:  So here, it is -- but I will say this, Commissioner:  The part of the line that you 

see where you see the zip codes scratched out, don't eliminate those zip codes.  It merely says 

that -- it refers to them as the CRA targeted zip codes.  The CRA targeted zip codes have a 

definition and they are listed within the document, so it just takes a little bit more reading of it.  

But just because when we read them in the first place, it makes it a little bit more difficult to get 

through them.  But I -- before we move on I also -- I want to say a couple things that are in here 

because I want --

Board Member Carollo:  And to clarify, because I want to make sure, again, what we're voting 

on, especially with zip codes.

Chair Hardemon:  Yes.

Board Member Carollo:  And I'll be honest with you.  About a week ago, a week and a half ago, I 

received an e-mail (electronic) regarding the zip codes and some being pulled out, and I'll be 

honest with you, what's in “C” in the my original document, which is zip codes 33127, 33128, 

33130, 33136 and 33150, which is CRA targeted zip codes, what most people don't know is two 

of those zip codes -- half of those zip codes is East Little Havana, which is in dire need of jobs, 

also.  So I agree with this.  I don't disagree.  But when I see now an amended copy which is in 

front of me, and that's taken out --

Board Member Suarez:  No, it's not; it's not taken out.
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Board Member Carollo:  I see it here.  It is crossed out.

Chair Hardemon:  That's what I tried to explain to you just now.

William Bloom:  Commissioner, when the amended version was circulating, I hand-wrote notes 

that --

Chair Hardemon:  Mr. Bloom, can you announce your name for the record, please?

Mr. Bloom:  -- that was supposed to be set back in.  Unfortunately, you weren't here at that time, 

and I didn't take that one marked in front of --

Chair Hardemon:  Mr. Bloom, we can't hear you, and I need you to announce yourself for the 

record.  So what we're going to do is we're going to read for everyone so they can understand 

what zip codes are included within this document; is that fair?

Mr. Bloom:  Yes.

Chair Hardemon:  Can you please do that first?

Mr. Bloom:  William Bloom, special counsel for the CRA.  When I circulated a revised draft this 

evening --

Chair Hardemon:  Can you do me a favor?  Before you move forward, can you name for the 

record what zip codes are included in this document?

Mr. Bloom:  Yes.  The zip codes that were included for the five --

Chair Hardemon:  For the City.

Mr. Bloom:  -- originally five zip codes:  33127, 33128, 33130, 33136 and 33150.

Chair Hardemon:  So those are the original --

Mr. Bloom:  Original zip codes.

Board Member Carollo:  And they will be included, even though in this amended copy --

Mr. Bloom:  That's correct.

Chair Hardemon:  They were never --

Mr. Bloom:  And what was circulated to the other Commissioners and to the Clerk reflected that 

those were to be put back in, and it was just a typing mistake that was made at the last minute.

Mr. Bloom:  Okay.  So when I heard Commissioner Sarnoff made the motion and it was 

seconded, I didn't hear that part.  I just heard “as amended,” so I want to make sure that “as 

amended” means that now, back on -- I had it on page 7; now it's page 6.

Mr. Bloom:  Page 7.  All those zip codes are included.  And Commissioner Sarnoff has requested 

that the West Grove be included; Commissioner Gort has requested that 33142 be included.

Board Member Carollo:  And if I may -- and once again, I'm not an attorney, but I see here that 

we're going by tiers, and “C” is the third tier, which says, “City residents within these five zip 
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codes.”  Fourth is City residents outside of the CRA targeted zip codes.  And I think that's where 

all the other additional zip codes should be; so not necessarily within these five zip codes.  If 

these five zip code are exhausted with laborers and then there's additional laborers that we need, 

then we go to the fourth tier, which is the residents outside of the CRA targeted zip codes, and I 

think those are the zip codes in the West Grove.  I think Commissioner Gort has 33142 and I have 

two that then I want to include.  But I just want to make sure that we're crystal clear for the 

record.  And in all fairness, you know, this is actually very frustrating for me, because this should 

be an easy vote.  I mean, this is part of what the CRA actually has -- is meant to do.  But the way 

the process has been done, I mean, it makes it much more difficult.  And with that said and 

maintaining the line of the zip codes as you wish, Mr. Chairman, my request is that in letter “D,” 

which is the fourth tier, along with Commissioner Gort and Commissioner Sarnoff that we 

include 33125 and 33135.  And I'll yield the floor back to you, Mr. Chairman or --

Chair Hardemon:  And I want to be very clear.  Thank you very much.  I want to be very clear.  

Your request was -- Commissioner Sarnoff, your request was to include it under line “D” or was 

it to include it under line “C”?

Board Member Sarnoff:  I was trying to put it, Mr. Chair, and I'm --

Chair Hardemon:  Page 7.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Thank you.

Mr. Bloom:  Item “D” would be the balance of the City --

Board Member Sarnoff:  Right.

Mr. Bloom:  -- after you get --

Chair Hardemon:  Right, and that's why it would be -- it should be “C.”

Mr. Bloom:  So if you're looking for -- It should go under item “C.”

Board Member Sarnoff:  Item “C,” right.  Item “C” --

Mr. Woods:  It should go under “C.”

Board Member Sarnoff:  -- was supposed to be resource needed, zip codes in the City of Miami?

Chair Hardemon:  Yes.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Is that a nice way of putting it?

Chair Hardemon:  Yes.  So that's where it would be.  So --

Mr. Woods:  Yes.

Chair Hardemon:  -- I'm going to accept but I want to friendly-amend your request to put it 

under item “C.”

Board Member Carollo:  Understood.  And that's fine with me, as long as those other two zip 

codes get included.  But in essence, I thought the purpose of “C” was to include the five highest 

poverty, you know, rated zip codes.

Chair Hardemon:  It was, and they are there.  And so what we've done -- and I appreciate 
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Commissioner Sarnoff and I appreciate Commissioner Gort for raising the concerns of their 

community where they  have higher poverty rates but aren't included within the top five.  So 

essentially, that is raising the awareness of poverty within their districts and doing something to 

address them, so that's what we're doing and I'm fine with accepting that.

Vice Chair Gort:  Why don't you go over the procedure; the first is Coconut -- I mean Overtown, 

and so on.

Chair Hardemon:  Right, right.  So -- and for the record, so that people understand exactly 

what's happening, what we're discussing, there is a hierarchy within the hiring process for 

people who are working on this project.  First, the City residents of those living within the 

redevelopment area have first priority towards hiring; second, City residents living within the 

boundaries of the Overtown community have priority in that hiring; third, City residents who live 

the high poverty zip codes within our communities have preference in the hiring, and then now 

with the additional changes that we just included; fourth, the City residents that are residing 

outside the CRA targeted zip codes, so in the City as a whole; fifth, to County residents who live 

in the five highest poverty districts within our County; and sixth, to County residents outside 

those targeted zip codes.  The whole goal was to try to make sure that the developer spends 

considerable time and resources to address the poverty needs of our community, so if we're going 

to have development in our communities, we want to hire from the people that need the jobs the 

most.  So when you combine those things with some of the other changes that we'll discuss 

briefly, I think that it becomes a win-win for reducing poverty, which overall will help, we're 

hoping, to reduce crime within our communities.  Commissioner Sarnoff.

Board Member Sarnoff:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I just want to move to an area that 

oftentimes in the credit industry, it's called the five “C's” of banking.  I suspect Commissioner 

Gort's extremely familiar with it.  I just want to go to the last two “C's.”  One is called 

“conditions” and the other is called “character.”  Conditions:  “Conditions” mean the risk that 

a developer has with regard to a neighborhood.  All due respect, this is a high-risk community in 

that there has been no development in this community for the better part of about 50 years.  I 

guess Mr. Weitzel's project might have happened in '86, but predominantly as we, Commissioner 

Gort and I shared a ride, drove up and down here, we saw a number of people who were living 

on the streets, and that is a high-risk neighborhood, and that's part of why banks oftentimes look 

at the conditions and the risk.  The last thing they look at is character.  And I don't think you can 

say enough about the character of Nitin Motwani.  I don't think you could say enough about how 

he has worked through 49 public meetings to try to engage this community in as broad an 

outreach as I've ever seen since I've been Commissioner.  Other than Miami 21, I don't think 

there's ever been more public meetings than this particular issue with this particular developer.  

They've worked through some tough times, and they're here, hopefully, to bring this home for 

everyone.  Finally, I want to talk about two other issues.  One is a movie called “Field of 

Dreams.”  And in “Field of Dreams,” they said, “If you build it, they will come.”  And I want to 

take that two ways:  One, if you don't build it, you'll never get your TIF.  So if the developer 

decides, “This is no longer something suitable to me,” the Overtown community will never risk 

one penny.  So if you're a Republican, you should love that, because they're the TIF generator.  If 

you're a Democrat, you should love that because it goes to the needed resource where it is.  I've 

never understood how anybody could ever be against what they call “back-end TIF'ing.”  So 

again, if they don't build it, they'll get nothing.  But if they do build it, they will get a percentage 

to go to what's called infrastructure or parking for their particular community and for the 

Overtown situation.  So I've always been a huge fan of what I call “back-end TIF'ing.”  I think 

that's what they call it, “back-end TIF'ing.”  Again, they don't build it, they won't come and your 

“Field of Dreams” will never be satisfied.  Finally, the last thing I like to look at, which is the 

architectural, and I don't think we've said anything today about Elkus Manfredi.  To us, he 

certainly is not one of our locals, right?  He's not Fort Bresch, he's not Zyscovich, but to a 

Bostoner [sic], Elkus Manfredi is considered probably the best public space developer architect 

in all of Boston.  And if you haven't been to Boston, it probably has some of the greatest public 
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spaces that you can find in America.  And I got to tell you, one of the reasons I support this 

project is its use and allowance of people to congregate and to commingle in public space.  

Commissioner Gort and I just came from a place where there was a very big public gathering, 

and that's something Miami sorely misses.  We simply don't have enough commingling of public 

spaces.  If, in fact, this development does anything but brings a cross-section of our community 

together, then it has really achieved its purpose, because it has great public spaces; wide spaces, 

wide sidewalks that, at first blush, you might say to yourself, “What's the big deal?”  The big 

deal is that's where the public conversation can take place; something Miami doesn't often have 

enough places to do, because you don't want to go to City Hall, or a CRA meeting only to have 

public conversation.  So I just want to say with regard to the five “C's” of banking, the last two 

are certainly etched in stone in my mind.  And certainly, Elkus Manfredi, nothing has been said 

very much about him and his master plan for this particular development, and it's a shame 

nothing has been said -- I guess because he's not a local -- but he did a great job of designing 

this.  Finally, you know, little known was the folks -- I think it was the Birdmans (phonetic) were 

here and Haagenz (phonetic) here.  The gas station.  I don't know how many of you know this, 

because you would think maybe Commissioner Gort's neighborhood, maybe Commissioner 

Hardemon's neighborhood, maybe even Commissioner Carollo's neighborhood had the highest 

crime area in all of the City of Miami.  It wasn't.  It was my neighborhood.  It happened to be the 

gas station.  There were more calls for service from that one venue than from anyplace in the 

City of Miami for the past five years.  So if you don't think creating synergy and redevelopment 

helps a community, I could tell you this:  The City of Miami has had no calls for service in that 

area for the past nine months, and that allows police services to go to other areas that need the 

resources that they have, and that's all part of planning a city.  So, Mr. Chair, I just want to 

congratulate you on what I think is a very tough agreement.  Like Commissioner Gort said, 

maybe they should show you the back of their head.  I was almost on that page, as well.  It's a 

very tough agreement you drafted.  My hat's off to you, because I think you did a great job of 

getting some major concessions.  And for the community, don't worry about it.  If they don't build 

it, they'll never see a penny.

Vice Chair Hardemon:  I want to make sure we point out a few different things for the community 

so they can be aware of some of the things that we're looking at, changes within this.  One of the 

things that was pointed out from -- well, I will just say this then:  There are a number of different 

requirements that the developer has to meet, and all of those requirements have a financial 

penalty.  So I'll start first by saying there's never been within -- as far as I know -- the City of 

Miami within our CRA that we've had penalties as high as these penalties are.  Nitin was in the 

room, Javier was in the room, and all of them almost passed out when I asked for the initial 

penalty of $100,000 per percentage point that they don't meet their goals.  So local workforce 

hiring, participation, all of those things, $100,000 for each penalty.  Now, we came to an 

agreement that the highest would be a fifty thousand dollar penalty for each percentage point .  

Now, what does that mean?  It means that all the other agreements that have ever been put in the 

past, at most had about $2,500 in penalty per percentage point.  So we're serious about them 

meeting our goals and we're serious about getting investment back from them if they don't meet 

those goals.  Secondly, there is a -- of the total jobs -- not of skilled or non-skilled laborer -- of 

total jobs, there's still a 25 percent requirement for local hiring within Miami-Dade County.  For 

the unskilled workforce, we heard a lot about what you can't buy with $8 an hour.  And on the 

Commission floor one day, I talked about when was the last time that someone here made 

minimum wage, and I explained how I made less than that, because I was making about four 

dollars and something cent when I was working for Chuck E. Cheese, hosting parties, and --

Commissioner Sarnoff:  Thought it was for Public Defender.

Chair Hardemon:  I get a little bit more as a Public Defender.  But -- and the importance of that 

is that we can't -- every agreement that I touch within the City of Miami, I touch with the eye of 

improving the conditions that we all live in.  Every agreement that I touch, I draft it with an 

anti-poverty reduction eye.  And so we can't pay our people poverty rates and expect them to get 
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out of poverty.  So minimum wage at $8 an hour is not going to be paid on this project.  Every 

single person that -- the bottom, the very, very bottom guidelines as far as how much they can get 

paid is $13 an hour or twelve dollars and eighty-something cent, to be more exact.  But when you 

go from making $8 an hour to $13 an hour, that is a big difference.  That's not a 25 cents raise; 

that's not a dollar raise; that's not a dollar twenty-five raise.  It gives people in this community 

who are suffering from poverty, who are suffering, trying to put food on their tables an ability to 

pay -- to get dollars to actually buy a sandwich on the property that they're actually working on.  

So this is the first time.  And that's not a living wage, I must add.  That's something that we've 

come to coin as an enhanced living wage.  That means that there is a living wage requirement 

that some people apply to projects, but we went above and beyond that.  We added an additional 

dollar and said, “We want more than just the average.”  So we have in this project an enhanced 

living wage, and this is the first time that you've ever seen in a project of this size, or any project, 

for that matter, where you have an enhanced living wage and then also a responsible wage.  

Responsible wages give the people in our communities an opportunity to get training, to become 

electrical journeymen.  It gives them an opportunity to have a career, not just a job for a year, 

like I heard someone say earlier.  So the training aspect, the -- you get the highest paid wages at 

the responsible wage.  All these things give dignity to people working at that jobsite.  No one's 

there being pimped or prostituted, for that matter, for their labor.  That's why the labor is here in 

overwhelming support of this agreement, because labor understands that this is the biggest step 

that we've ever made to doing anything positive towards labor here in the City of Miami.  And I 

will be a champion of pushing for responsible wages as an ordinance moving forward on all of 

our projects that we -- especially where we see government dollars moving forward.  So this is an 

opportunity for us to take a huge step.  And I commend Worldcenter, because I know that I gave 

them hell in these negotiations.  But I'm serious about protecting the people that live in this 

community.  And we didn't get in this community -- in this agreement everything that we wanted, 

but we got a lot of different things.  So, for instance, for those of you who are within this 

community who have businesses that want to have a storefront in the Miami Worldcenter, we've 

secured reduced rates for storefronts, and the CRA will be able to put three different businesses 

within that development.  We're going to sponsor legislation that I'm going to bring forth that's 

going to allow people who have small businesses to put kiosks on the area that are outside -- and 

they don't like that, but we're going to do it anyway -- put kiosks so that if you are within a 

poverty-stricken district, you can start businesses in that area.  We have opportunities for small 

businesses to -- SBE (Small Business Enterprise) requirements, small businesses.  We have 

dollars -- we have -- oh, one of the biggest things I thought was one of the greatest is that if you 

have suffered from a felony or insignificant criminal records, there's language in this document 

that you cannot be turned away solely because of that.  So if you have a non-serious violent [sic] 

felony, you could be hired on this project and make $13 an hour at least.  So these are all 

concessions that had never been made before. And when we draft these documents, you can't just 

look at this one document and decide because it's not perfect that it's not worthy.  You have to 

look at these documents as a sign to come, so the next person that comes before us, if they 

request our TIF dollars, they won't be paying $50,000 in penalties.  They're on notice.  They're 

on notice that they have to give us responsible wages for not just the electrical journeymen, but 

for general labor and other; plumbers and such.  They're on notice.  They're on notice that as 

they put together their financial documents, trying to structure some type of deal for this 

community that they have to do better.  The time has gone for this community to be set aside.  

This community has the resources and they have the wherewithal within this Board to make sure 

that this stuff gets done.  And what we need from our community is that support moving forward, 

because moving forward, Overtown is going to be the place to live, the place to work and the 

place to play.  And all of these decisions that we're making right now go towards making sure 

that that happens for our community, because I'm sick and tired of driving down the street in 

Overtown, or walking on 3rd Avenue and watching drug sales.  I'm tired of having overgrown 

lots and finding dead bodies in them.  I'm tired of people buying drugs from our community 

where you can stand on your porch and see things happen like that.  And what changes that?  

Development; more people coming in; more attention; more lights; better, safer streets; that's 

what changes it.  And we have an opportunity to do this with dollars that will be generated from 
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this major project.  And if the project is completed, they don't get all the money back.  The CRA 

retains a great deal of those dollars so that it can reinvest within our communities .  So, Mr. 

McKnight, on “Miami the War,” in the documentary, when you clearly said that nothing has 

been happening in Overtown, we're changing that, and we'll be able to take a greater sum of 

money to put into better training programs that Commissioner Suarez is a supporter of putting so 

that we could have the job readiness for our community moving forward.  We're going to make 

some good things happen in Overtown, and don't allow an agreement that you've read in the 

third quarter decide who wins the game.  We're moving forward, doing positive things in this 

community.  We're going to continue to hold them to the fire.  Mr. Grady Muhammad asked, 

“Who monitors these contracts?”  We're going to hire a third party to monitor those contracts, 

and it's paid by them.  The CRA will choose that firm.  It will not be a friend of Miami 

Worldcenter, and we'll continue to have the updates that are required to make sure that this 

project is on the right track.  So everybody who's telling me -- who's saying to me personally, 

“wait,” I can't wait any longer.  I can't wait any longer for Overtown to get what it's due.  I can't 

wait another day, another month, another week; I can't wait another minute to see development 

in this community, because if it doesn't happen now, it's not going to ever happen.  So I'm sick of 

waiting, and this community is sick of waiting.  We're ready to build.  We're ready to make this 

community better, and when we leave these positions, this community is going to be in a better 

place than it was when we left it [sic].  Is there anything else from other Commissioners?  

Commissioner Suarez.

Board Member Suarez:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I, you know, listened and took notes as the 

speakers spoke.  And there's so many different things that you can say, and it's actually nice 

sometimes to go fourth in terms of speaking with your Commissioners, because they've said a lot 

of the things that I had in mind to say.  I think we've touched upon a variety of different large 

themes which is most importantly poverty, violence and education.  When you talk about poverty 

and you're talking about your Poverty Initiative, and we've discussed it on multiple occasions, we 

start with a million, two hundred and fifty thousand; that was the starting point.  That's what the 

Commission allocated, a million, two hundred and fifty thousand.  I think we all did that because 

it was something that we believed in, but we knew that that was literally a drop in the bucket.  

And so from that moment forward, we took the challenge very seriously, and a project like this 

alone can provide -- and these are just, you know, off-the-cuff numbers that I've calculated.  You 

talk about “What is the developer getting?”  Yeah, the developer's going to be getting a large 

subsidy.  I don't think that there's any doubt about that.  But the developer gets a percentage of 

what the developer generates, so that means that the community gets the other percentage, and 

so the question is -- what I find interesting is why has no one asked, “What is the community 

getting?”  And I think, you know, if you do the numbers, roughly, in phase one alone, which 

takes time to generate, the community can get up to $60 million in TIF; that's aside from all the 

job requirements.  That's TIF money that comes to the CRA for other projects, for other 

endeavors.  So you talk a lot about what the developer gets, but I don't understand why no one 

asked, “What does the community get?” because that's what we should be asking.

Unidentified Speaker:  I did.

Board Member Suarez:  Okay, good for you.  I think the jobs component is a huge stimulus, 

because if 25 percent of all the jobs of a two billion dollar project in multiple phases , that's $500 

million.  So we're going from $1.25 million, which was an allocation of one government, one 

small entity, to $500 million in terms of leverage.  I mean, you can't get that anywhere else.  I 

mean, you can't do that anywhere else.  When you talk about Overtown being a historic area and 

people being insulted about the fact that, you know, it's considered blighted or slummed and 

blighted or whatever you want to call it, that's the State statute definition of what a CRA is 

supposed to cure; that's not my term, that's not any Commissioner's term here.  But one thing 

that is interesting, as I drove up here, the person who drove me pointed out on 8th Street and 5th 

Avenue, there was a murder just two days ago on Christmas Eve over heroin.  So it's a 

community that's still -- I mean, if anyone here doesn't think that Overtown is still beset by 
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violence or drugs, then --

Mr. Muhammad:  (UNINTELLIGIBLE)

Board Member Suarez:  -- that's true, every city does have that.

Chair Hardemon:  Mr. Muhammad --

Board Member Suarez:  That's true.

Chair Hardemon:  -- can you please respect --?

Board Member Suarez:  That's absolutely true.  But that doesn't mean that we have to accept it, 

and we're not going to accept it, and I'm not going to accept it, and I don't think anybody in this 

Commission is going to accept it, or in this Administration.  Just the fact that that exists doesn't 

mean that we should accept it, and I think we -- it's on us to find ways to make sure that that is 

not acceptable and that we're not just going to sit on our hands and do nothing while the murder 

rate, by the way, has gone up in the City of Miami from last year, and that's already confirmed, 

and the year hasn't even ended.  So, you know, we have real challenges.  We have someone who 

-- and by the way, private industry does look at areas where it's speculative to invest, possibly, 

but where there are also incentives to invest, and that's a basis for their investment decision.  And 

finally, you know, when you talk about education -- and that's something that the Chair was 

talking about -- you know, I do agree that government and even private sector partnerships like 

this can only do so much.  And it reminds me, to quote another movie, “Primary Colors,” and in 

“Primary Colors,” for those of you who haven't watched it, is a movie -- was a fictional book 

that was made into a movie about President Clinton's 1992 campaign, and he starts off -- he's 

actually speaking to a labor union group, and he starts off by saying, “I'm going to do something 

very outrageous.  I'm going to tell you the truth.”  And he starts saying to that group that he's 

not going to be able to open the factory where they're working, but what he can do is he can push 

for the education and the skills that they will need to compete in a global economy.  And that's 

what we have to do, because at the end of the day, you know, we can give a living wage, or a 

responsible wage, or a Davis Bacon wage -- by the way, you guys should find names that 

everyone can understand, because it's confusing, 8, 11 and 13; I'm not sure exactly what number 

they are, but I think the key here is you have to convince people that -- and I'm not -- by the way, 

I'm not a hundred percent convinced, so I'm open to the argument, I'm open to the discussion.  I 

know Bill, who's here, Riley, who's a good, good, good person; his son is also a great guy, Terry, 

obviously; SEIU (Service Employees International Union) is back there somewhere; and Beth 

and good friends, as well.  But I need to be convinced that, you know, doing this is not something 

that's going to hurt the economy, that's going to hurt good projects from coming to the City of 

Miami, because we don't want to do something that's going to be counterproductive, so I 

definitely want to spend that time with you in learning why you feel differently.  You know, I kind 

of echo Commissioner Sarnoff's sentiments, and there are many different models that we employ 

here, not just at this CRA, but in all the three CRAs that we have.  One of the most successful 

CRAs in my opinion is the Midtown CRA, and that actually has 99 percent TIF, and that 

reinvested all the TIF that it generated back into itself, and it created a miniature city.  And I 

think Miami Worldcenter has -- and I'm going to steal this from somebody -- the possibility of 

being a Midtown CRA in Overtown; it really has that ability.  And I think, you know, when you 

look at the TIF that we're giving, it's actually half of what was given in the case of Midtown, and 

I think it only went up beyond that because of some of the responsible wage and living wage 

requirements and needs, because at the end of the day, if you do something, whether it's agreed 

or not agreed that maybe imposes a cost, it can't be more greater than what you're giving; 

otherwise, there's no point in doing it.  So, I mean, that's a discussion to have another day.  I just 

-- I think that this community deserves the energy that the Chairman brings to the table.  I think 

what you've seen here is a desire -- and by the way, just so you guys know, I've spoken to many of 

you individually, being a CRA Board Member has definitely been the most frustrating part of my 
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political career since I've been a City of Miami Commissioner; I can tell you that right now, 

because --

Vice Chair Gort:  I'll second that motion.

Board Member Suarez:  Yeah, because as frustrating as it is for you and for many of you who live 

in Overtown, the ones who live in Overtown, it's incredibly frustrating for me to spend time in 

Overtown, to drive through Overtown and not see the progress happen fast enough.  So, you 

know, I -- one of the terms that came to my mind when the Commissioner was speaking at the 

end is he's kind of like a bull in a china shop, you know, and I do think that he has done a 

marvelous job in changing the discussion and really changing the dynamic when it comes to 

these agreements, which were nowhere near as severe in terms of the penalties, in terms of the 

provisions of how the jobs must be allocated and the change between -- by the way, Mr. 

Schneidman (phonetic), who's here from FIU (Florida International University), who's an expert 

on CRAs, made a very good point in one of the articles that he published about, you know, 

“What is the extra consideration?  Is there extra consideration between the development 

agreement and the CRA agreement?”  And it's a legitimate question, you know, and I think, you 

know, I think the penalties that are imposed; I think the changes from “reasonable efforts” to 

“shall do,” which makes things much more fluid to things that are much more enforceable, I 

think that, in and of itself, is separate and apart consideration from the consideration that we 

would get in a development agreement, which, by the way, I remember the discussion in 

September, and many of those things I think were not even supposed to be in the development 

agreement.  I think it's because of the Chairman's advocacy that those things were put in the 

development agreement, just in case we never got to this point, and we're here.  And the other 

concern that I have, and I'll just say this, you know, I understand people's frustration with 

documents.  I think we've all shared it at one point or another, not getting a document early 

enough or fast enough, but the bottom line is, you know, this project passed City Commission in 

September -- okay? -- three months ago.  Anyone who wants to know about this project can call 

any of our offices, can make public records requests, which many of you are very good at doing, 

by the way, you know, throughout the process, on a weekly basis, on a daily basis, on a bi-daily 

basis, and get the documents as they are created or as they are modified.  You are just as entitled 

to those documents as we are, and you have just the same power to get those documents as we 

have.  And if you don't get a public document, call me, call my office; I'll make sure you get it.  

I'll ask for it myself.  And I've done that for many of you who are in the audience, and I will 

continue to do that, because I feel that's a legal obligation that I have.  So, you know, it 

frustrates me sometimes to get the last minute people that complain and, you know, about a 

project, because, really, there shouldn't be -- this project does evolve, it does have permutations 

and changes, but you can track them day by day, and you should, because as citizens, you know, 

you should be watchdogs, you know, you should watch what we're doing, and I think many of 

you do that very effectively.  So, you know, those are my thoughts.  I can talk about this forever, 

because I've taken a lot of notes, and this is a very complicated and very large deal, but I think 

lastly, I'll just say that we're here as CRA Board Members, but, you know, there's a temptation 

sometimes to take off your CRA Board Member hat, which I shouldn't do and I won't do, but this 

is a good project for the City of Miami.  This is a good project for the City of Miami, and I don't 

think that's disputable, and we need this project to come to the City of Miami, just like we need 

Brickell City Centre to finish, just like we need a variety of other projects that are on that 

Biscayne Corridor to be completed.  It's the lifeblood of our City.  It's what's making our City 

dynamic, on fire, whatever you want to call it, and what we don't want to see is people saying, 

“You know what?  I don't want to deal with Miami.  You know, I don't want to be in these 

places.”  And development is not inevitable.  It takes the right conditions for it to happen, and a 

billion, multi-billion-dollar project is not inevitable and there is fragility to it that, you know, I 

think people underestimate.  So those are my thoughts.  I apologize for taking so much time so 

late, and I thank you for your indulgence.

Chair Hardemon:  Commissioner Carollo, you're recognized. 
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Board Member Carollo:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me begin by saying that I believe that 

this project is what the cliché word is now, “a game-changer.”  I mean, in all fairness, have you 

driven by that area in the last five, 10, 15, 20 years?  So this project is really what I believe is a 

game-changer.  And I believe the purpose of the CRA is to incentivize and make sure that the 

slum and blight in an area is eliminated.  And if it could be eliminated with some of the drawings 

that we've seen, some of the pictures that we've seen, I mean, I don't think you could ask for 

anything better than that.  Now, at the same time, I would admit something that I think should be 

rather simple becomes more complicated when issues like the zip codes come about and so forth.  

And by the way, let me also say I commend you, Mr. Chairman, because looking at a lot of these 

numbers, I mean, I know you drew a hard bargain.  I know for a fact you negotiated very hard.  

And even if I would dispute some of the percentages and so forth, like you very well said, nothing 

is perfect, so I realize that and you have to take it as a whole, and that's why -- Look, I'll be very 

honest with you.  I'm not big into briefings.  I usually don't like people to tell me what' s in there 

and manipulate what they think and so forth, so that's why very rarely do I meet with Mr. 

Clarence to brief on the agenda, because I truly believe that whatever we're going to discuss and 

whatever I'm going to vote on, it should be in my agenda; it should be in the backup, you know.  

And I will admit, and I'm going to say it publicly, I'm disappointed, Mr. Woods, because I spoke 

to you earlier today.  You never mentioned about this amendment, you know.  You never 

mentioned about this amendment, and you know I'm reading the stuff, so, you know, and that's 

why I believe that everything should be in the backup, so there is no back and forth of, “Well, he 

said, she said no,” back and forth; you know, everything should be in the backup.  And, you 

know, realistically, we don't brief much, because I don't need much briefing.  Everything should 

be back here.  Everything should be in the backup, you know, for I and all the public to read.  

And then, when I come here -- and, yes, I apologize for being late, and unfortunately, you know, 

there's a lot of things going on in the City of Miami at the same time.  But gladly, I made it here 

to, you know, in time for this vote.  You know, I see the changes.  It makes it more difficult, Mr. 

Chairman, it makes it more difficult, especially when I'm rushing to see where the changes are 

and it's really not what it is.  Oh, no, no, no, that's -- that changed; you know, it makes it more 

difficult.  Now, with that said, you know, I'm going to look at this as a whole and know that 

everything is not perfect, and support it, because there is a lot of good within this agreement.  

And I'm not going to go on with a long-winded speech, I think I've said enough, because I, too, 

could go on, and on, and on, on this, and I could even debate point by point, but I'd rather just 

leave it as is and take the vote.

Chair Hardemon:  Thank you very much.  Before -- and I don't hear any other discussion from 

any other Commissioners, so we will move to a vote, and I want to point out that this magazine 

that was passed to me from the wonderful Commissioners to my left, and it's the Florida Trend 

Magazine.  It's a magazine of Florida businesses, and it lists in here, “Floridian of the year, 

Miami, the most exciting city in the world.”  And the project that it highlights is this project.  

Everyone is watching what we're doing here in Overtown, and this is the type of investment that 

we need within our community.  And if you're against bringing better jobs, better living 

conditions, removing blight, removing slum from our communities, then you're against what the 

CRA stands for, and we won't accept that.  So any other discussion?  

Unidentified Speaker:  Call the question.

Chair Hardemon:  Seeing none, all in favor, say “aye.”

The Board (Collectively):  Aye. 

Chair Hardemon:  All against?  Motion passes.  This meeting is adjourned.

ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 8:57 p.m.
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